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1. LEGAL STATUS 

The Linnean Society was founded in 1788, received a Royal Charter in 1802 and 

Additional Charters in 1904 and 2005. The Society is a registered charity, No. 220509. 

 

2. ADDRESS 

The Linnean Society of London 

New Burlington House 

Piccadilly 

London, W1J 0BF 
 

3. PRINCIPAL ADVISERS 

Bankers:  Barclays Bank Plc 

PO Box 13555 Acorn House 

36-38 Park Royal Road 

London, NW10 7WJ 
 

Auditors:  Knox Cropper 

65 Leadenhall Street 

London, EC3A 2AD 
 

Investment Managers: Tilney Asset Management Services Ltd 

  17th Floor 

  6 New Street Square 

  New Fetter Lane 

  London, EC4A 3BF  
 

4. PRINCIPAL OFFICERS                      YEAR OF APPOINTMENT  

Professor Paul Brakefield FRS   President (2015-24th May 2018) 

Dr Sandra Knapp   President (from 24th May 2018) 

Deborah Wright   Treasurer (2016 – resigned October 2018) 

Dr Mark Watson   Interim Treasurer (appointed 7th December 2018) 

Professor Simon Hiscock     Scientific Secretary (2013) 

Dr Malcolm Scoble        Scientific Secretary (2009) 

Professor Mark Chase FRS     Editorial Secretary (2012)  

Dr John David    Collections Secretary (2012)  

Dr Elizabeth Rollinson     Executive Secretary (2011) 

Dr Malcolm Scoble         Vice President 

Professor Paul Henderson Vice President 

Dr Blanca Huertas  Vice President 

Dr Olwen Grace     Vice President 
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LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS 
 

TRUSTEES 

 

On 24th May each year (or the nearest working day) the Anniversary Meeting, which all 

Fellows of the Society are invited to attend, elects a Council of 20 Fellows (including the 

Officers) to manage the affairs of the Society. 

 

Following their election to Council, all Trustees are provided with a copy of the Charity 

Commission’s CC3 – The Essential Trustee: what you need to know, and CC20 – Charity 

Fundraising – a guide to Trustee Duties, together with a copy of the Linnean Society’s Charters 

and Bye-laws, which sets out the governance of the Society. Council members are carefully 

briefed on their duties as Trustees of the Society. The Executive Secretary is always available 

to answer any questions and give guidance.  

 

The elected members of Council are the Trustees of the Charity and, in addition to the 

Officers listed above, those who served during the year are listed below: 
 

  DUE TO RETIRE  

Ms Rosie Atkins                Retired 24th May 2018 

Dr Paul Bates  Retired 24th May 2018 

Professor Juliet Brodie  Retired 24th May 2018 

Dr Maarten Christenhusz  Resigned October 2018  

Dr Colin Clubbe  24th May 2020  

Dr Nick Crumpton  Resigned October 2018 

Professor Michael Fay  Retired 24th May 2018 

Dr Olwen Grace  24th May 2021 (from 24th May 2018) 

Professor Paul Henderson  24th May 2021 (from 24th May 2018) 

Professor Alan Hildrew  24th May 2021 (from 24th May 2018) 

Dr Blanca Huertas  24th May 2020  

Dr Zerina Johanson  Retired 24th May 2018 

Professor Dame Georgina Mace FRS  24th May 2020  

Dr Christopher Michaels  Resigned October 2018  

Dr Silvia Pressel  24th May 2021 (from 24th May 2018) 

Dr Paul Smith  24th May 2019  

Dr Rosie Trevelyan  Retired 24th May 2018 

Dr Stephanie West   24th May 2021 (from 24th May 2018) 
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ANNUAL REPORT 

 

PRESIDENT’S REVIEW - 2018 

 

Taking over the reins of the Presidency from Professor Paul Brakefield in May was a great 

honour, and I look forward to serving the Society. Looking back, 2018 was a busy and 

productive year, as you will see from the contents of this Annual Review – the Society is 

fortunate to have such dedicated staff and volunteers, who are delivering our charitable 

purpose through a broadening portfolio of engaging activities and resources for our Fellows 

and the public alike, connecting across ages, backgrounds and geographies.  It is wonderful 

to reap the benefits of all the staff working together much more effectively following 

relocation of those previously based in Toynbee House. 

A highlight of 2018 has been the coming on-stream of the Discovery Room, and installation of 

other display cases, thanks to generous grants from the Wolfson and Garfield Weston 

Foundations. These provide us with a whole variety of engagement possibilities, with the 

Discovery Room acting as a mini-museum and library as well as a place to host meetings and 

workshops.  The Society has begun initiatives celebrating diversity and inclusivity, themes 

about which I am very passionate.  Our outreach activities have extended to Wales and 

Scotland, as well as other parts of England. The scientific lecture programme at New 

Burlington House has been interesting and informative, including joint meetings with other 

societies and institutions, as well as around the Courtyard Cultural Campus.  

The Society’s flagship BioMedia Meltdown (BMM) outreach art-meets-science Project 

culminated in a brilliant celebration evening, and we thank all those involved who made this 

event so special for all the students and their families.  I am pleased that the Society is in a 

position to maintain BMM for at least a further 2 years, as the initial funding from John Lyon’s 

Charity finished in June. 

It’s been great to see so many more of the Society’s unique collections becoming freely 

accessible electronically, including the archive catalogue, educational videos, and podcasts. 

This is an important public benefit that reaches far beyond the walls of New Burlington 

House, and brings the Society and its mission to broader and more diverse audiences. 

Our research journals are prospering with OUP, helping to bolster the Society’s financial 

reserves as we move forward in securing our long-term tenure at New Burlington House.  

Our governance review will be completed during 2019. I look forward to honing the Society’s 

vision over the next year for a vibrant and increasingly accessible future! 

 

Dr Sandra Knapp 

President  
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RESEARCH & SPONSORSHIP 

Following our motto, to learn the ways of nature, the Society spent 2018 supporting a wide array 

of global research projects and onsite researchers, as well as managing the first full year of our 

journals after their transfer to Oxford University Press.  

Research Journals 

In 2018, our journal publisher, Oxford University Press (OUP), worked hard to solve the 

production issues (copy-editing and typesetting) that were associated with our transfer to 

them, alleviating a lot of the stress to our stalwart Editors, Professor Mike Fay, Professor John 

Allen and Professor Louise Allcock. Some problems have continued, but measures are in place 

to eliminate these. Unfortunately, due to taking on highly demanding administrative duties 

at her university, Louise asked to step down as Editor of the Zoological Journal of the Linnean 

Society. Dr Maarten Christenhusz, former founding editor of Phytotaxa and currently Deputy 

Editor of the Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society, has taken over from Louise, as of 1 

November 2018. The transfer of duties to Maarten has gone smoothly thus far. We are pleased 

to report that sales are in line with forecasts. The journals continue to support the hybrid 

model (whereby Open Access options are available), although the rate of take-up continues 

to be low. We are pleased that OUP participates in a number of free or heavily-reduced rate 

access initiatives, such as INASP, eIFL and Research4Life, ensuring that non-profit research 

institutions in developing nations have access to critical research. 

The Biological Journal of the Linnean Society maintained its quality with its impact factor rising 

to 2.532, but we were saddened to learn of the death of Professor 'Sam' Berry, who not only 

edited the Journal in its early years but was also a former President of the Society. As a tribute, 

an 'R J Berry virtual issue' was produced, drawing together Sam's written contributions to the 

Journal. Two more virtual issues were jointly published with the other two journals on the 

themes of the first female Fellows and next-generation sequencing. The two papers that had 

the highest impact with the general public (as measured by Altmetrics) were both by Japanese 

authors: the anti-predator behaviour of a caterpillar, and the feeding adaptations of a diving 

beetle. High-impact papers included reviews of speciation genomics, the effect of changes in 

body mass on locomotion, and the possible evolutionary role of human body odour. The 

Journal published several papers relevant to conservation (e.g. river dolphins, golden eagles, 

tree snails, Magnolias) as well as the evolutionary genetics of invasive species (e.g. frogs and 

lizards) and we expect these 'applied' areas to expand. 

2018 was a productive year for The Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, with the publication 

of over 100 articles. High-profile papers featured phylogenetic studies on deep-sea annelids 

from the tropical Pacific, a phylogenetic study of manta and devil rays, an overlooked sun 

fish, a study on silky ant eaters and a methodological paper testing the use of repetitive DNA 

elements in phylogenetic studies using hominids as a case study. One important study found 

that Linnaean taxonomy is a better-than-expected reflection of underlying evolutionary 

patterns. The impact factor remained more-or-less unchanged at 2.685 (versus 2.711 the 

previous year) and the journal is still one of the top journals in the category ‘Zoology’ (16th out 

of 167). 
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The Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society has had a good year with two special issues, Orchid 

Conservation – Science and Practice and Legume Morphology, and virtual issues on New World 

monocots, the first female Fellows and next-generation sequencing (the last two being jointly 

produced with the Biological and Zoological Journals). High-Profile papers featured a review 

of orchid trade (legal and illegal), the effect of climate change on spider orchids (with >350 

years of data), convergent evolution in high-elevation lupins, identification of plants from a 

16th Century herbarium using ‘ancient DNA’ and a new classification of lichenized fungi. The 

impact factor increased by 37% to 3.124 (the highest to date), with the journal ranking 36th out 

of 223 journals in the category Plant Sciences, an increase of 26 places from last year.  

 Systematics Research Fund (SRF) 

Retaining its focus on taxonomy/systematics, evolutionary biology and biodiversity, the 

Society, together with the Systematics Association, co-administers the Systematics Research Fund, 

the parties contributing £33,474 and £7,000, respectively.   From the 167 eligible applications, 

we were delighted to announce the 31 recipients of the 2017/18 SRF awards, ranging from 

£770 to £1,500, encompassing a wide range of plant and animal species across global 

geographies and habitats.  A full listing of the recipients and their project titles can be found 

below. 

Name (Country) Project 

Viktor Baranov (Germany) Chironomidae mandibles: plesiomorphic condition or case for 

re-evolution of character once lost? 

Albert Chen (United Kingdom) The early evolution of crown-birds: Phylogenetic and 

morphological case studies 

Shannon Corrigan (United States) A diagnostic PCR test for discriminating cryptic shark species 

with mitochondrial admixture 

Christopher Doble (United 

Kingdom) 

Developing an environmental DNA reference database for fish 

species within Lake Tanganyika’s basin 

Rudolph Valentino Docot 

(Philippines) 

Boesenbergia Kuntze (Zingiberaceae) of the Philippines 

Emily Fountain (United States) Identifying cryptic speciation in sloths and re-evaluating their 

conservation status 

Kathryn Hall (Australia) Co-evolutionary studies of the gyliauchenid fish parasites and 

their microbiomes 

Kimberly Hansen (United States) Evolution in the Andes: taxonomy, phylogenomics, and 

biogeography of Kohleria (Gesneriaceae) 

David Kenfack (United States) Phylogenetic position of Crateranthus (Lecythidaceae) 

Somayyeh Kheiri (Iran) Diatom biodiversity of sulphur springs in Rameh, Iran 
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Andrii Khomenko (Ukraine) Taxonomic revision of the Caucasian leeches (Annelida, 

Hirudinida) 

Tomas Lackner (Germany) The evolution of ecological specialization: gain/loss of 

psammophily in histerid beetles 

Deborah Leigh (Canada) Untangling cryptic diversity in high Arctic Puffins (Fratercula 

arctica) 

Nathan Masters (United 

Kingdom) 

Opaline Colours in South African Flora 

Brittney Oleniacz (United States) Spiders in North American Cretaceous Amber 

Andrés Orejuela (United 

Kingdom) 

Evolution of epiphytism in Solanaceae 

Cristian Roman-Palacios (United 

States) 

Molecular systematics of the genus Bryconamericus (Characidae: 

Stevardiinae) 

Sanjeevi Prakash (India) Systematics of coral reef caridean shrimps of Gulf of Mannar, 

South India 

Priscila Salloum (New Zealand) Using traditional mt-DNA for intraspecific surveys in the 

genomic era 

Gisela Sancho (Argentina) Understanding the Austral distribution of Lagenophora Cass. 

(Asteraceae) 

Pedro Joel Silva da Silva Filho 

(Brazil) 

Taxonomic and phylogenetic study of Rhynchospora Sects. 

Laevinuces, Luzuliformes, Spermodontes and Tenues (Cyperaceae). 

Sergi Taboada (United Kingdom) A new symbiotic relationships between a carnivorous sponge 

and its annelid host 

Veronica Urgiles (United States) Molecular and morphological diversification of a cryptic group 

of terrestrial frogs in a high altitude tropical hotspot. 

Mariana Wagner (Brazil) Systematics of the Myrcia amazonica DC. clade (Myrtaceae) 

Emilia  Wendt (Brazil) Parasite-host relationships: understanding the effects of ecology 

and biogeography on diversification of monogenean 

Johanna Weston (United 

Kingdom) 

Mitogenome approach to the phylogeography of the hadal 

scavenging amphipod, Bathycallisoma schellenbergi 

Yannick Wurm (United 

Kingdom) 

Phylogenetic discrepancy in social organisation 
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Loubab Zedane (United 

Kingdom) 

On the evolution of fog-harvesting plant adaptations: a study of 

the South African genus Eriospermum 

Mateusz Zmudzinski (Poland) Unveiling extinct mite meioworlds: fossil Prostigmata 

(Arachnida: Acariformes) diversity in Baltic amber 

Karala Alujevic (South Africa) Does population structure mislead phylogenetic inference 

when using RADseq data? 

Sophie Maslon (Canada) Molecular systematics of Québec hypogeous fungi 

 

The Attenborough Award, for the best fieldwork project from the previous year’s SRF 

recipients, was awarded to Marco Lukic, a self-funded PhD student from the Croatian 

Biospeleological Society and Department of Biology, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia, for his  

project entitled Systematics and biogeography of the troglobiotic genus Verhoeffiella (Collembola: 

Entomobryidae). This was the first detailed morphological and molecular study on Dinaric cave 

Collembola, serving to elucidate their unresolved taxonomy.  Marko found two species, V. 

longicornis and V. verdemontana, in the same cave in Bosnia and Herzegovina with significantly 

different troglomorphic traits, raising questions about the evolution and adaptive value of 

such traits in a subterranean environment. This work has been accepted for publication in 

Invertebrate Systematics.     

 The Anne Sleep Award, which is provided to young scholars to assist with biological 

research in the Middle or Far East, was won by Liping Dong, an Assistant Researcher in the 

Institute of Vertebrate Paleontology and Paleoanthropology in Beijing, China for her study on 

fossil lizards, entitled A new varanid from the Early Eocene of China, with implication on evolution 

of Varanidae.  The funds of £2,730 will facilitate Liping’s 21-day stay to the UK working with 

Professor Susan Evans at UCL, and will include comparison with specimens held at the 

Natural History Museum.   

The Dennis Stanfield Memorial Fund Award (£2,000), for botanical research on tropical 

African plants, was won by Megan K Sullivan, a PhD student (Cullman Fellow) at the Yale 

School of Forestry and Environmental Studies, for her project entitled Seedling ecology in a 

dynamic ecosystem using selective logging as a natural experiment in Gabon.  This grant will 

facilitate paying a field assistant in Gabonese forests for 4 months, while other funding for this 

project has already been sourced through Megan’s Fellowships with Tropical Resource 

Institute and New York Botanical Gardens.  

   

The John Topp Legacy, which is for amateur or professional botanists or entomologists (with 

priority for any who serve or have served in Her Majesty's Royal Navy or the Army) to 

undertake studies in the field, was awarded for the first time, with a grant of £2,500 to John 

Tennent, a former marine, to facilitate his field work on the distribution and diversity of 

butterfly fauna on the scattered islands of the southwest Pacific.   
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Onsite Research at New Burlington House 

In 2018, our Library attracted just over 300 researchers, 65 of them new readers. The richness 

of the Collections means that the topics of research were diverse and varied, ranging from 

Turkish botanists looking at Linnaean and Smithian herbarium type specimens, to Danish 

biographers studying Linnaeus’ copies of 17th-century botanical works. In total, 450 books and 

275 manuscripts were sourced for researchers, and over 700 enquiries were fielded. A more 

unusual research visit entailed the cast of The Wider Earth, looking at Darwin material to 

inform their play on Darwin’s voyage on HMS Beagle.  

The attendance of workshops and conferences by the Collections team is invaluable, as it 

highlights the existence of our Collections to an audience of academics and researchers. An 

American historian, at one such workshop, was made aware of our Insch Tea Library; amazed 

by its richness, she plans to come back next year for more focused research. 

The compiling of a book of the Society’s Treasures unearthed items worthy of more 

investigation: two Fellows went on to publish papers related to artworks chosen for the book. 

Aiming to go Further 

The Society is undoubtedly keen to commit more resources to supporting young researchers, 

and will do this by continuing to provide grants as above, as well as by providing travel grants 

to students to allow them to attend conferences, and free training opportunities through 

workshops in the Society’s Discovery Room.   

 

COLLECTIONS & HERITAGE 

Overview of the year  

A year of change for the Collections team, we said good-bye to our long-standing Librarian, 

restructured the team, and welcomed two new members of staff. As always we endeavoured 

to promote access to the collections through tours, new displays, attending conferences, and 

collaborating with external organisations, while preserving them thanks to schemes like 

AdoptLINN and PRISM. 

Linnaeus Link Union Catalogue 

2018 saw over 148,000 page views of Linnaeus Link, the international union catalogue for 

Linnaean works, managed by the Society. Currently, 17 partner institutions contribute 

records. Top users were from the US, UK, India, Spain and France, indicating the project’s 

value internationally. 

In June, the Society’s Librarians attended the 22nd Linnaeus Link Partners meeting, in 

conjunction with the European and Botanical Horticultural Libraries (EBHL) and the Council 

on Botanical and Horticultural Libraries (CBHL) annual meeting at the New York Botanical 

Gardens. The EBHL and CBHL also celebrated anniversaries (25th and 50th respectively) and 

interest from several potential new partners emerged from this meeting.  
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Digital Assets 

The Buchanan-Hamilton watercolours from Mysore and Smith’s Supplemental Herbarium 

specimens have joined our Online Collections. We have also partnered with The Watercolour 

World (www.watercolourworld.org) and will be adding images to its repository, starting with 

the Buchanan-Hamilton Nepalese watercolours. 

In response to growing digital demand, an upgrade to our current digitisation equipment was 

approved in 2018, and the increasing popularity of our Online Collections has led to an 

upsurge in image requests, resulting in some changes to our reproduction structure and 

charges. An internal digital assets audit is enabling us to better understand what we hold and 

what we can offer to our users. 

Changes in the Team 

The Collections team saw some monumental changes in 2018. Archivist Liz McGow left on 

maternity leave in February, and Vida Milovanovic started as Liz’s cover in April, on a year’s 

contract. Former Deputy Librarian, Elaine Charwat, joined the team for six months as Library 

and Archives Assistant, to help with cataloguing serials and archival material. In July, we said 

a sad good-bye to Librarian Lynda Brooks, who was retiring after 11 years at the Society, 

though we did not lose Lynda’s invaluable knowledge altogether as she has decided to return 

as a volunteer. As a result of Lynda’s retirement, the Collections team was restructured, with 

the appointment of Dr Isabelle Charmantier as Head of Collections. Isabelle will manage the 

new Librarian Dorothy Fouracre (from September), Archivists Liz McGow and Vida 

Milovanovic, Conservator Janet Ashdown and Digital Assets Manager Andrea Deneau. 

AdoptLINN and PRISM 

With the inclusion of manuscripts, artworks, and artefacts into the AdoptLINN at the 

Anniversary Meeting in May, 2018 has been a very good year for the scheme, with £8,303 

raised. Items adopted included a 1499 edition of one of Linnaeus’ Ortus Sanitatis (or Garden of 

Health), 26 early 18th-century Indian zoological drawings collected by Thomas Hardwicke, 

Edward Lear’s Parrots (1832), and the copy of Per Krafft’s 1776 portrait of Linnaeus in the 

Meeting Room. We are immensely grateful to all our AdoptLINN donors, whose names 

feature on our online catalogues and on our website. 

The priority this year has been conserving and re-housing Society founder James Edward 

Smith’s Carpological Collection. This was made possible by a grant from the Arts Council 

England’s PRISM (Preservation of Industrial and Scientific Material) Fund. The termination 

of the PRISM scheme in 2019 means that the project has to be completed in one year (March 

2019). 

  

http://www.watercolourworld.org/
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Linnaeus’ Herbarium Cabinet 

Our annual Conversazione event had a special theme in 2018. After much fundraising and 

hard work, we were finally able to put Linnaeus’ herbarium cabinet (affectionately monikered 

‘Herbie’ within the Society) on display for the first time in decades. 

 

The team, led by honorary curators Mark Spencer and Glenn Benson, aimed to display 

Linnaeus’ newly-conserved herbarium cabinet in time for the special Fellows’ event. 

Showcased in the Society’s foyer, the display case was set up with text, images and faux 

pressed herbarium specimens to show the importance of the cabinet as a working tool in 

Linnaeus’ toolkit. Conserved in honour of the retirement of Professor Gren Lucas OBE Hon 

FLS as Treasurer, funding for the conservation came from the Fellowship. 

 

While it may look like just a cupboard, it has played an integral role in the way pressed plant 

specimens are arranged and studied. Unlike earlier herbaria that were kept in bound books, 

Linnaeus stored his specimens mounted on loose sheets of paper, cut to fit the cabinet shelves. 

These sheets enabled him to remove specimens for easy comparison with any new plant 

material being sent from around the world. 

 

Curator of Artefacts, Glenn Benson, gave an excellent talk at the Conversazione about the 

history of the cabinet and things that had emerged during its conservation by Tristram 

Bainbridge from the V&A Museum. The display is now a stop on our popular Treasures 

Tours. 

 

Volunteers and Projects 

The Linnean Society owes a great debt to our team of volunteers, who not only help to care 

for our holdings but uncover new information as well:  

 

Pia Wilson and Lynda Brooks FLS undertook vital cataloguing of incoming books and 

journals, helped by Sheila Meredith who completed the cataloguing of the Darwin and 

Wallace Collection.  Gina Douglas Hon FLS continues in her role of Honorary Archivist. Anne 

Courtney completed cataloguing the bound and loose letters, while Fiona Byers catalogued 

certificates of recommendation up to 2004. David Pescod Hon FLS continues to list gifts to the 

Society, now from the 1852–61 Presents Book. John Abbott is helping with the conservation of 

AdoptLINN items, including 146 drawings from the St Vincent Botanical Gardens collected 

by Alexander Anderson (1800s). 

Honorary curators Glenn Benson FLS, Ollie Crimmen FLS, Sue Ryder FLS and Mark Spencer 

FLS have provided invaluable help, with queries and guidance, as well as undertaking 

surveys of our specimens and artefacts. 

Enthusiastic Kings College MA History students Taylor Harwood and Kristen Wellborn 

carried out an internship of 100 hours between January and April, cataloguing the letters of 

Pleasance Smith and producing a podcast (https://soundcloud.com/user-679811756/lady-

pleasance-smith). 

 

https://soundcloud.com/user-679811756/lady-pleasance-smith
https://soundcloud.com/user-679811756/lady-pleasance-smith
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Raising Funds 

The Library has had a terrific year fundraising: our book trolley raised £568, whilst donations 

from Treasures Tours and tours for paying groups took over £1,195. Tours for educational 

groups and staff from other institutions continue to be offered for free. Including AdoptLINN 

donations and the PRISM (Preservation of Industrial and Scientific Material) grant from Arts 

Council England (ACE), the Library raised over £11,500 for the care of its collections. 

Promoting our Heritage 

The team enthusiastically promoted the collections at various conferences and workshops on 

conservation (AIC, American Institute for Conservation of Historic and Artistic Works, and 

NatSCA, the Natural Sciences Collections Association), library and archives (Unlocking the 

Archives for Scientists at the Royal Society, EBHL, European Botanical and 

Horticultural Libraries Group), and history of science (ESHS, European Society for the 

History of Science, and SHNH, Society for the History of Natural History). A Lunar Lecture 

was given by Dr Isabelle Charmantier, our Head of Collections, on botanical classification at 

Erasmus Darwin’s House in Lichfield, and our stand at the annual History Day in Senate 

House, UCL (University College London) was a success. 

We also enjoyed highlighting the diversity of the Society’s Collections via blogging and 

promotion through social media, linking to widespread campaigns like #NHEphemera 

(ephemera in natural history collections) in February, and the annual nationwide Explore Your 

Archive in November.   

Collections Planning 

Our objectives continue to be guided by our recent Collections Strategy, and 2019 will see the 

team writing an overarching Collections Development Policy, as well as finishing the 

conservation and rehousing of the aforementioned Carpological Collection.  

The ongoing cataloguing of books, serials, archives, and artefacts will continue, alongside 

development of a video to welcome visitors to the Society. Digitally, we are looking forward 

to the installation and use of new scanning equipment early in 2019, which will enable us to 

both produce better images for internal and external use, and collaborate more effectively with 

external organisations. 

 

OUR FELLOWS 

Overview of Year 

Enhancing the diversity of our Fellowship is a key imperative for the Society.  Gender balance 

was brought into sharp focus by the day meeting in March devoted to the first 15 female FLS, 

while the contributions to natural history by people of African/Caribbean origin were 

celebrated during Black History Month, with a number of posts on the website, including The 

man who taught Darwin taxidermy, The father of the peanut industry, Look to the future, with a black 

PhD student, and a Profile of our Sudanese female Fellow, Maha Kordofani, who provided 

some pearls of wisdom for young biologists (see below). We are scheduling a conference on 
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diversity in natural history in 2019, exploring why only 4.4% make it as Professors, when 

23.9% of students studying biosciences are minority ethnic.  

Maha’s words of wisdom: 

Patience is a virtue. Anything worth achieving is going to be hard and without pain we do not 

grow. Be determined but not overzealous. Be strong but not rigid. Be focused but not tunnel-

visioned. Be self-critical but do not be self-doubting. Be analytical but do not be prejudiced. Be free 

in your pursuit of knowledge and give knowledge freely. Your path is not as much about titles and 

achievements as it is about the betterment of yourself and of humanity, therefore, be kind to yourself 

and to others.  

Fellows and Followers 

The Society’s Fellowship continues to grow, with 123 FLS newly-elected and paid-up in 2018, 

bringing the total number of members to 2,871.  It’s especially encouraging to see increasing 

numbers of Student Associates, rising by 37 in 2018 to 107, and Associates numbering 55.   

Around 10% of FLS live in London, 55% in rest of UK and 35% in the Rest of the World, across 

all continents (we have FLS associated with Antarctica!).  The Society also has many friends 

on social media, with over 2,000 Facebook followers, and about 4,000 followers on Twitter 

(60% UK, 13% US).   Over two thousand individuals receive Linnean News e-letter.  

Celebrating our Fellows  

Notable amongst Fellows’ achievements was the election to, and admission of, the Society’s 

new President, Dr Sandra Knapp, as an International Honorary Member to the American 

Academy of Arts and Sciences.   

Professor David J Mabberley AM (Member of the Order of Australia) was awarded an 

Honorary Doctorate (DSc honoris causa) by Macquarie University in September in recognition 

of his outstanding contribution to horticultural science.    

Professor Lena Struwe [Rutgers University] was presented with the Charles Edwin Bessey 

Teaching Award by the Botanical Society of America.  She has also made simple taxonomic 

tools available: Manual: The Naming of Plants – explanations and examples (1st edition, 2018).    

Dr William A Weber [University of Colorado Boulder], botanist, 100 years old, has been 

honoured with three lifetime achievement awards in lichenology and bryology:  the 

prestigious Acharius Medal, the Elizabeth Britton Award and the Chicita Culberson Award. 

There are more than 40 plant, moss and lichen species named for him. 

Also of note was the publication of the Plants of the World: An Illustrated Encyclopedia of Vascular 

Plant Families launched by FLS’s Dr Maarten J M Christenhusz , Professor Michael F Fay, and 

Professor Mark W Chase FRS at the Society – one of our best attended lectures.  

 

  

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Honoris_causa
https://www.amazon.co.uk/s/ref=dp_byline_sr_book_1?ie=UTF8&text=Maarten+J.+M.+Christenhusz&search-alias=books-uk&field-author=Maarten+J.+M.+Christenhusz&sort=relevancerank
https://www.amazon.co.uk/s/ref=dp_byline_sr_book_2?ie=UTF8&text=Michael+F.+Fay&search-alias=books-uk&field-author=Michael+F.+Fay&sort=relevancerank
https://www.amazon.co.uk/s/ref=dp_byline_sr_book_3?ie=UTF8&text=Mark+W.+Chase&search-alias=books-uk&field-author=Mark+W.+Chase&sort=relevancerank


 

Page 15 of 66 
 

LINNEAN SOCIETY OF LONDON ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2018 

In Remembrance 

Sadly, we have lost a number of eminent FLS during the year, most notably two past 

Presidents, namely Professor ‘Sam’ Berry, an evolutionary biologist and former editor of the 

Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, and the botanist Sir David Smith, who did much to 

widen the Society’s reach.  Our oldest Fellow, the plant physiologist Professor David Goodall 

(elected FLS in 1945), at the age of 104, travelled from Australia to Switzerland to end his life.  

We also lost the colorful Jill, Duchess of Hamilton, a journalist by profession but hugely 

committed to the natural world, developing the Flora for Fauna project exhibited at the Chelsea 

Flower Show in Linnaeus’ Tercentenary Year. Internationally renowned botanist, William 

(Bill) Sykes, launched his major work Flora of the Cook Islands shortly before his death.     

Enhancing Membership 

The Society set up a Membership Working Group in 2018 to explore ways of enhancing 

membership, both recruitment and retention, with the aim of increasing our gender and ethnic 

diversity, while also building our younger constituency.  Please let us know your views on 

what more you feel the Society can do for you, as well as on how you might engage with the 

Society’s mission. 

CULTIVATING PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 

Our eclectic range of events throughout 2018 brought in new audiences (see Appendix). 

Alongside our Lunchtime Lectures and series of evening meetings, we hosted the premiere of 

the documentary Symbiotic Earth and re-established our Annual Field Trip, in conjunction with 

the Field Studies Council. Most of our lectures are recorded and the vodcasts produced can be 

found via our website, so extending access to all those unable to get to New Burlington House. 

Broadening Audiences  

2018 saw a hugely successful third annual Courtyard Late in which all the Societies around 

New Burlington House participate (the themed evening joins together our Cultural Campus). 

The theme was Resources, and our G & Tea event examined the role of plants as botanicals 

through gin tasting and tea making. Lectures focused on the roles of algae and yams in a 

sustainable future, medicinal plants and plants as poisons. 

Our popular Founder’s Day lecture was given by Philip Mould OBE FLS, presenter of the 

BBC’s Fake or Fortune, who explored how plants in paintings have offered clues in some of the 

greatest art discoveries in the 20th century. Other well-attended lectures included Dr Mark 

Benecke on Forensic Entomology, Dr Zanna Clay on Great Apes and Minds and Nick Lane on A 

Bioenergetic Basis for the Three Domains of Life.  

At Home and in the Field 

In 2018, our first day meeting was held in memory of Andrew Sheppy FLS who had passed 

away suddenly in 2017. A Fellow since 1979, Andrew’s work in conservation breeding and 

livestock genetics was celebrated at the event. Also celebrated during the year was the life and 

work of James Petiver, a 17th-century apothecary and naturalist who had an impact on 

multiple fields of natural history; 2018 marked the tercentenary of his death. Our annual 

Conversazione celebrated the unveiling of Linnaeus’ newly-conserved Herbarium cabinet 

(see Collections & Heritage).   

Later in the year, the Society held its annual field trip, in collaboration with the Field Studies 

Council, studying the ecology around Scotland’s Isle of Cumbrae.   
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Women in Science 

March 2018 saw the Society’s first event solely dedicated to diversity in science. The year was 

also the 230th anniversary of the Society, and we took the opportunity to shine a light on the 

milestone that was the election of the first female Fellows in 1904.  

The event, which was fully booked, included a keynote address by Professor Athene Donald 

DBE FRS. Lectures looked into the stories of the first female Fellows, imposter syndrome, 

women who collect and describe plants, and the experiences of women in the field today. 

Participants submitted their questions for a Q&A with speakers and left ‘advice for their 

younger selves’. The event was capped off with cocktails named for three of our ground-

breaking female Fellows. We hope it will be the first in a long line of events to address equality 

and inclusivity in science; our event in March 2019 will celebrate the contributions of ethnic 

minorities to the study of natural history. 

Engaging with Collections 

As always, the team worked hard to engage the public with the Linnean Society’s rich 

holdings through tours, displays and blogs.  The installation of new display cases, thanks to 

funding from the Wolfson and Garfield Weston Foundations, helped to enhance the Society’s 

events with mini-exhibitions tailored to suit topics (such as our meetings on naturalist Thomas 

Pennant, or the Society’s first female Fellows).  New display cabinets in the Discovery Room 

also showcase our Darwin and Wallace Collection, alongside key items from the Linnaean 

collections and the Society’s history.  

Our increasingly in demand guided educational tours included yearly visits from American 

and Japanese universities, as well as students from the Royal Drawing School who took 

inspiration from our collections. Combined with our ever popular monthly Treasures Tours, 

we attracted a total of 835 visitors keen to learn more about Linnaeus and the Society.  

The Society received some excellent feedback from tours and events: 

Overall, it was such a productive visit, all thanks to your encouragement and positive spirit. 

(Reader (Romita Ray Kapoor), August 2018) 

We had a really wonderful day on Friday: it all went so smoothly and the location couldn’t have 

been better. A memorable occasion indeed!  

Thanks to you both for your work, both in organizing the event and in setting up the wonderful 

exhibition. We were really delighted to see all that Pennant material in situ.’ (Organiser of Pennant 

meeting, November 2018) 

The more events the better, keep the youngsters informed and coming 

Found it fascinating (biology A level student) 

Super talks, super venue.  Really good speaker, made me think about fashion industry and 

environmental issues. 
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Merchandise 

The Society has around 5,000 visitors every year, through room hire, events, library and walk-

in visitors, all of whom provide a key market for Linnean Society merchandise.  

Currently we sell a limited selection of merchandise, consisting of cards and postcards, ties, 

bags, books, medals and make-your-own badges. There has been an increase in 

merchandising Profits over the past four years, due to a slight increase in the range of items, 

changes to display location and a push to get the Society’s name out to the general public. The 

income from merchandising was £366.50 in 2015, compared to £1,906.23 in 2018, with over 

£400 from the sale of cards with animal and flower designs, generously provided by Jenny 

Grundy FLS. 

Open House London continues to be our biggest event, which attracted 1,814 visitors and 

garnered £450 from merchandising. We hope to continue to expand our range over the next 

year to realise the potential of this market opportunity. 

Inclusivity is Key 

Addressing diversity was predominant in 2018, and the Society organised its first conference 

promoting women in science, celebrating not only the Society’s first women Fellows, but the 

role of women in science today. We are striving towards making our programme even more 

diverse and accessible, keen to be a vital arena in which to learn about natural history, 

encompassing all backgrounds and levels of study. In 2019 we are holding a day meeting 

celebrating the contributions of ethnic minorities to natural history (touched upon in our 

series of blog posts during Black History Month), as well as our first ever student conference.  

DISCOVERING MORE 

Linnean Learning has flourished in the last year, reaching brand new audiences online with 

our exciting array of videos and podcasts, visiting new schools with the BioMedia Meltdown 

Competition and exhibiting at the Green Man Festival with 20,000 festival goers! Sadly, we 

said goodbye to BioMedia Meltdown Project Officer Elisa Jones this year, but welcomed 

Education Project Assistant Zia Forrai. 

Forums and Festivals 

For educational events, the Discovery Room is proving to be an excellent space for a whole 

variety of engagement. It acts as a mini-museum as well as a place to host meetings and 

intimate workshops. We’ve held six botanical art classes in the room this year, an exploration 

of public engagement with a group from the London International Youth Science Forum and 

utilised the room as a creative space for the Big Draw event. 

The Linnean Learning team, however, also goes beyond the Society walls. This year we took 

part in conferences and events in Cambridge, Birmingham, Leeds and Sheffield, and were 

particularly excited to exhibit the Museum of Lost Species at the Green Man Festival in the 

Brecon Beacons, Wales. A fictional museum, it displayed stories about extinct species that 

implied extinction would ‘keep the museum in business’ and that increasing biodiversity 

loss would be positive. Reversing the message had the desired effect of making people stop 

and think; Society staff asked visitors for their reactions and how they could aid 
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conservation efforts as individuals. We hope to get the museum back out to other festivals in 

the future. 

Championing Student Skills 

2018 also saw the launch of our Linnean Learning student skills series. We hosted three 

workshops for research students to develop vital transferable skills. This included tackling 

imposter syndrome, communicating research effectively and thesis writing (the latter held in 

January 2019). Workshop sizes were varied, ranging from 5 to 30 students. 

Improving Access, Resources and Impact 

There are so many different organisations that are working hard to improve access, 

understanding and engagement with education and nature at all levels and so it’s a great 

privilege to be able to work with them throughout the year. From working with family groups 

and younger students at the Royal Institution and Westminster Abbey, to university students 

with the British Ecological Society and London’s Natural History Museum, the Society is 

showing its capacity to act as a truly inclusive forum for natural history. 

 

We are pleased to be working with the primary science network and the Association for 

Science Education to reach more schools and develop new resources to support teachers and 

encourage young people to discover more about the natural world. Our Discovery Kit loan 

scheme continues to be an excellent resource for primary schools, and our new Evolution 

Discovery Kit is being trialled with teachers. 

Picture Perfect 

While our portrait of Carl Linnaeus was due to be cleaned and conserved under the 

AdoptLINN scheme, the team ran a competition for 8–11 year olds to create a new portrait to 

hang in its place. After receiving around 200 amazing entries, the finalists were shortlisted 

and the winner was Leo, a 10-year-old student from London. 

Coming Up 

We are looking forward to making further use of the Discovery Room in 2019, trialling CPD 

(Continuous Professional Development) sessions in science for primary school teachers, or 

potential public workshops in book-binding. We will also be hosting the Linnean Society’s 

first Student Conference and have a great roster of digital content lined up for 2019. 
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SPECIAL ENAGAGEMENT PROJECTS 

Alongside all of our other activities, research and conservation work, the Society’s special 

projects aim to increase engagement with our own collections and history, and natural 

history in general. 

BioMedia Meltdown Project 2018-2019 

The BioMedia Meltdown Project (BMM), the Society’s art-meets-science outreach 

competition for 11–14-year-olds, continued to go from strength to strength this year. Under 

the dedicated leadership of BioMedia Meltdown Project Officer Elisa Jones, the project saw 

an increase in participation as the team delivered over 72 workshops this year, with over 20 

secondary schools now involved. The addition of BioMedia Meltdown Outreach Assistant 

Zia Forrai and volunteer Klara Mari Bornman have enabled the project to continue to grow. 

In workshops delivered by the team, students were challenged to create an animation 

exploring how scientists are working towards conserving species, or to design prints that 

show symbiotic relationships. The workshops have been well received by students, teachers 

and families around London. The project is also now in partnership with ArtsMark. Artsmark 

is the creative quality standard for schools, awarded by Arts Council England, recognising 

commitment to high quality arts and cultural education. 

The team also ran sessions at two different Fun Palaces events this year, an annual nationwide 

campaign that aims to fuse combinations of science, tech, digital, heritage, arts, crafts and 

sports activities to engage with local communities. Additionally there were further activities 

at Open House and at Brompton Cemetery Open Day. While sadly Elisa Jones left the Society 

at the end of 2018, the project will be taken up by Daryl Stenvoll-Wells early in 2019, who will 

oversee the BMM at the Cheltenham Science Festival for the first time in June. 

Feedback from BMM participants 

 Thank you so much for delivering two very well received STEM workshops.  It was great to get such 

good attendance including interested parents / carers – Sarah Smith, Libraries Development 

Manager, at Brent Libraries.  

I was (the teacher) taking part in the printing workshop we had last week; it was tremendous fun, the 

students really enjoyed it and I was very impressed with the print work they come up with – Mrs K 

Juvonen-Morris, Lady Margaret’s School.   

I was really grateful that you and colleague were able to come - you both really helped make the event a 

success and I could see how much people of all ages enjoyed making prints and the animation, there 

were some brilliant films – Philip Green, Boundary Estate - Fun Palaces.  

Both staff and pupils praised the activities.  I am really keen for you to come to us again – Di Tyler, 

Ilford High. 
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Linnean Learning Podcasts 

After the successful launch of the Society’s first three educational video series, we sought to 

build on this success in 2018 with a series of podcasts targeting audiences on other online 

platforms.  

The podcasts covered many internal events: the Society’s 230th anniversary celebrating our 

first female Fellows; two King's College London MA History students exploring our 

archives in search of Lady Pleasance Smith; and podcasts supporting our onsite lecture 

series, such as Murder Mystery by Dr Mark Benecke FLS and Climate change Threatens Beds 

(Coralline Algae) of Biodiversity by Dr Leanne Melbourne. Other podcasts have also been 

produced looking into current research, like The Space Potato, which investigates how plants 

have aided space exploration. In Magic, Myths, Medicine and the Lost Remedies, speakers 

Julian Harrison (lead curator of the British Library’s most successful exhibition Harry Potter: 

A History of Magic), Prof Monique Simmonds OBE (Deputy Keeper of the Jodrell 

Laboratory, Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew) and Valerie Thomas (medical herbalist) look into 

the historical overlap between these schools of thought. 

Thus far, the Society has interviewed 26 experts in order to produce 16 podcasts (with ten 

published in 2018), which have accumulated over 1,200 listens. This is a new platform for 

the Society; the aim for the future is to streamline content into shorter stories. The podcasts 

will continue to support all aspects of the Society’s activities, focussing primarily on its plant 

and animal specimens.  

The Society has now appointed Ross Ziegelmeier in the post of Multimedia Content Producer. 

He will be responsible for all future productions of podcasts and videos, and will oversee 

digital content projects and collaborations. 
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RECOGNISING EXCELLENCE 

Through sponsorship and awarding medals, the Society acknowledges and encourages 

excellence in all aspects of the biological sciences, with particular emphasis on evolution, 

taxonomy, biodiversity conservation and sustainability.  Medals are presented by the 

President at the Society’s Anniversary Meeting (24th May).   

 

2018 

Medal/Award - 

Field 

2018 awardee  Area of Specialism 

Linnean Medal 

in the field of 

Botany, for 

service to 

science 

Professor Kamaljit 

Bawa FRS, 

Professor of Biology, 

University of 

Massachusetts, USA 

World-leading evolutionary ecologist and 

conservation biologist who has helped shape the 

direction of conservation science globally. Founded 

India’s leading conservation organization, the 

Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and 

Environment (ATREE).   

Linnean Medal 

in the field of 

Zoology, for 

service to 

science 

Dr Jeremy 

Holloway, Scientific 

Associate, National 

History Museum 

Best known for his monumental 18 volume Moths of 

Borneo, published between 1983 and 2011, describing 

4,630 species, many new, and used by lepidopterists 

around the world as a major work of reference. Also 

wider quantitative, analytical faunistic studies in SE 

Asia.   

Linnean Medal 

in the field of 

Biology, for 

service to 

science 

Professor Sophien 

Kamoun, University 

of East Anglia, 

former head of the 

Sainsbury 

Laboratory in 

Norwich 

Internationally recognized as a pioneer and leader in 

understanding the co-evolutionary arms race 

between plants and their pathogens. Identified the 

cause of ash dieback and also expert on tiger beetle 

evolution.  

Darwin-

Wallace Medal, 

for major 

advances in 

evolutionary 

biology 

Professor Josephine 

Pemberton FRS, 

Professor of 

Molecular Ecology, 

Edinburgh 

University Institute 

of Evolutionary 

Biology 

Has pioneered genetic parentage analysis in wild 

animal populations, leading to new insights into 

understanding mating behavior and natural 

selection. Meticulous long-term studies of red deer 

on Rum and Soay sheep on St Kilda.  
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Bicentenary 

Medal, for a 

biologist under 

the age of 40  

years in 

recognition of 

excellent work  

Dr Edwige 

Moyroud, Research 

Group Leader, 

Sainsbury 

Laboratory, 

University of 

Cambridge 

Developed Hibiscus trionum as a model species, 

combining biomechanical modelling and optics with 

modern genetic analysis, live tissue imaging and 

behavioural ecology, to understand development of 

the minute nanostructures that lead to iridescence of 

flower petals. These patterns are striking examples of 

evolutionary diversification by natural selection. 

Trail-Crisp 

Medal, in  

recognition of 

an  outstanding 

contribution to 

biological 

microscopy 

Dr Andy Chick, 

Associate Lecturer, 

Universities of 

Derby, Lincoln and 

Nottingham Trent 

Published many papers aimed at helping amateur 

microscopists develop their skills and equipment for 

citizen science, especially in identifying alternative 

mounting media for entomological microscopy. 

Inspires secondary school students and has written a 

book on Insect Microscopy.  

Irene Manton 

Prize, for the 

best botany 

PhD thesis in an 

academic year 

Dr Alexander 

Hetherington, 

University of 

Reading 

Outstandingly productive PhD student – Evolution 

and morphology of lycophyte root systems – 

understanding their structures, homologies and 

evolution.  Also identified the oldest developing 

meristem to be reported to date, as well as the 

gradual increase in homeo-domain containing 

regulatory proteins during the evolution of algae and 

land plants. 

John C 

Marsden 

Medal, for the 

best doctoral 

thesis in 

biology 

Dr Thais Nogales 

da Costa 

Vasconcelos, Royal 

Botanic Gardens, 

Kew 

Outstanding thesis – Morphological homogeneity, 

phylogenetic heterogeneity and systematic complexity in 

species-rich groups. Gifted in being able to convey 

complex ideas and processes to a non-specialist 

reader, visualizing new connections and gaining 

insight into questions that have gone unanswered for 

decades. 

Jill Smythies 

Award, to a 

botanical artist 

for outstanding 

taxonomical 

illustrations 

Niki Simpson, 

freelance 

A true pioneer in the field of digital botanic art, with 

her emphasis on accuracy and detail, illustrating 

diagnostic and taxonomic characteristics, creating 

beautiful ‘image vouchers’, each of which can take 

many months to create – a botanical narrative of 

growth and reproduction.   

Jill Smythies 

Award, 

awarded jointly 

Juliet Williamson, 

Royal Botanic 

Gardens, Kew 

A detailed and meticulous artist, with botanical field 

experience in Kenya, Madagascar, Malaysia and 

other countries, and work on the Flora of Tropical East 

Africa and Flora Zambesiaca, plus contributing to 

monographs on Monsonia and Emilia. 
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HH Bloomer 

Award, to an 

amateur 

naturalist for an 

important 

contribution to 

biological 

knowledge 

Dr Dan Danahar, 

Biodiversity 

Educationalist, 

Dorothy Stringer 

School, Brighton 

Has undertaken a series of habitat restoration 

projects for butterflies, especially in chalk grassland, 

and has produced a series of films on British 

butterflies.  Extensive outreach, in schools and in the 

local community.  

John Spedan 

Lewis Medal, 

for an 

individual 

making a 

significant and 

innovative 

contribution to 

conservation, in 

particular in 

entomology, 

ornithology or 

horticulture 

Marcella Corcoran, 

Horticulturalist, 

Royal Botanic 

Gardens, Kew 

Specialised in the conservation of plants of the UK 

Overseas Territories and maintains many of these as 

part of the UKOT’s conservation collections at Kew. 

Passionate about conservation and training, 

especially capacity building.  Her dedication to 

embedding plant conservation in centres of plant 

diversity means her legacy will be lasting. 

David 

Attenborough 

Fieldwork 

Award, for the 

best project 

funded through 

the Systematics 

Research Fund 

Daniel Huston, 

PhD student at the 

University of 

Queensland, 

Australia 

For efforts to elucidate cryptic speciation among 

Great Barrier Reef gorgocephalid trematodes, 

parasites with a complex life history involving 2 

intermediate hosts, including the fish (chubb) 

Kyphosus sp. Uncovered a new gorgocephalid life 

cycle and identified 2 new species of Gorgocephalus. 

 

Further details can be found at our website, and full citations are in The Linnean Oct 2018 

(34 [2]: 31-40).                
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PEOPLE 

Officers and Council listed on pp. 3-4 

Linnean Society Staff Team 

Executive Secretary Dr Elizabeth Rollinson (2011)  

Financial Controller & Membership Officer Mr Priya Nithianandan (1991) 

Office Consultant Ms Victoria Smith (from May 2017, role redundant, effective 19th Oct 2018) 

Office & Buildings Manager Ms Helen Shaw (from June 2017)  

Room Hire Manager & Membership Assistant Ms Tatiana Franco (2015) 

Communications & Events Manager Dr Leanne Melbourne (from November 2017) 

Librarian & Collections Manager Mrs Lynda Brooks (2005 – retired 31st July 2018) 

Deputy Librarian & Collections Manager Dr Isabelle Charmantier (to 31st July 2018) 

Head of Collections (new role) Dr Isabelle Charmantier (from August 2018) 

Librarian (new role) Ms Dorothy Fouracre (from September 2018) 

Archivist Mrs Liz McGow (2016) Maternity leave from March 2018 

Archivist (Maternity cover) Ms Vida Milovanovic (from April 2018) 

Digital Assets Manager Ms Andrea Deneau (2016)  

Conservator Ms Janet Ashdown (2002) 

Library & Archives Assistant Ms Elaine Charwat (6m appointment in 2018)  

Special Publications Manager Ms Leonie Berwick (2007)  

Education & Public Engagement Manager Mr Joseph Burton (from November 2017) 

Digital Media Producer Mr Ross Ziegelmeier (2015) 

BioMedia Meltdown Project Manager Ms Elisa Jones (June 2017 resigned Nov 2018) 

BioMedia Meltdown Project Assistant Mr Zia Forrai (from September 2018) 

Botanical Journal Editorial Assistant Dr Hassan Rankou (2012) 

Office Cleaner P/T Ms Fatima Mendonca (2015) 
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Curators, Editors and Committees 2018 

Our committee members are drawn from a wide variety of institutions. 

Honorary Curators  

Fish, Shells & General Zoology  Mr Oliver Crimmen (2017) 

Insects     Ms Suzanne Ryder (2017) 

Plants     Dr Mark Spencer (2013)  

Artefacts    Mr Glenn Benson (2014) 

Archivist Emerita   Ms Gina Douglas (2008) 

Editors 

Biological Journal   Professor John A Allen (1997)  

Botanical Journal   Professor Mike Fay (2008)  

Zoological Journal   Dr Louise Allcock (2015 to November 2018) 

     Dr Maarten Christenhusz (from November 2018)  

Synopses Series   Dr Peter J Hayward (2002) 

The Linnean Ms Gina Douglas (2013) Ms Leonie Berwick (2013) 

PuLSe     Ms Leonie Berwick (2009) 

Book Reviews    Dr Maria Vorontsova (2016) 

Committee Chairpersons 

Editorial     The Editorial Secretary (e.o.)  

Finance     The Treasurer (e.o.) 

Grants      The President (e.o.) 

Collections     The Collections Secretary (e.o.) 

Medals and Awards   The President (e.o.) 

Programmes     One of the Scientific Secretaries (e.o.) 

Education and Public Engagement One of the Scientific Secretaries (e.o.) 

Taxonomy & Systematics  Professor David Cutler PPLS 

Strategic Planning   Professor David Cutler PPLS  

The Executive Secretary and Strategic Planning Officer, as well as The Officers, are e.o. 

members of all Committees (excluding the Audit Review Committee). 

Committee Membership 

Editorial Committee 

Professor Mark Chase (Chairman) 

The Editors (e.o.) 

Representatives from the publisher, OUP 

Dr Rebecca A Farley-Brown, FSC (2001)  
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Finance Committee 

Dr Mark Watson (Chairman) 

The Financial Controller (e.o.) 

Professor Gren Lucas (2016) 

Mr Giles Coode-Adams (2001) 

Mr Edward Banks (2009) 

Mr Edward Hoare (1998) 

Dr N Keith Maybury (2008) 

Collections Committee 

Dr John David (Chairman) 

The Curators (e.o.) 

Library & Collections and E&PE staff 

Ms Gina Douglas (2008) 

Mrs Susan Gove (2001) 

Mr John Collins (1990- retired end 2018) 

Ms Gillian Furlong (2006) 

Dr DJ Nicholas Hind (1995) 

Mr Chris Mills (2006) 

Ms Andrea Hart (2015) 

Mr Tom Kennett, Archivist (2017) 

Dr Richard Preece (2017) 

Dr Mark Watson (2016)  

Programmes Committee 

Dr Malcolm Scoble (Chairman) 

Events & Communications Manager (e.o.) 

Education & Public Engagement Manager (e.o.) 

Professor Anjali Goswami (2013) 

Professor Jeff Duckett (2018) 

Dr Nick Crumpton (2016) 

 

Education & Public Engagement Committee 

Professor Simon Hiscock (Chairman) 

Education & Public Engagement, and Library & Collections staff 

Professor Beverley Glover (2013) 

Dr Jane Taylor (2013) 

Geoff Lockwood (2013) 

Sarah Thomas (2015) 

Suzie Kelpie (2015) 

Julia Nelson (2016) 

Julia Willison (2016) 

Lyn Barber (2018) 
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Taxonomy & Systematics Committee 

Professor David Cutler (Chairman) (2010) 

As appropriate, representatives from research institutions, universities, museums with natural 

history collections, statutory bodies and other entities concerned with taxonomy and systematics, 

biodiversity and conservation, participate in this Committee. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2016–2020 

The Council, Officers and Committees of the Society have continued to use the Strategic Plan, 

first laid out in 2008, revised in 2012, and revisited in 2017, as a tool for guidance and 

management leading to achievement of the strategic goal of the Society as stated in its original 

Charter:  

The Cultivation of the Science of Natural History in all its Branches 

Lead by the Strategic Planning Officer, Professor David Cutler PPLS, the Strategic Plan was 

reviewed by members of Council, Officers and Committees of the Society, together with the 

staff, in October 2017, and a number of proposals were followed up in 2018, in particular with 

regard to governance and membership. In the interim, Professor Cutler continues to ensure 

that the Society’s Committees regularly monitor their responsibilities under the plan, and look 

ahead to develop the plan as circumstances change. 

The main elements of the current Strategic Plan are: 

1  Be an inspiration for the scientific study of natural history and widen the appeal of 

the Society 

a)  Arrange and hold scientific meetings 

b)  Publish peer-reviewed journals and books 

c)  Award prizes, grants and medals 

d)  Develop the educational programme to targeted groups 

e)  Ensure that Public Benefits are as comprehensive as possible 

2  Be an informed, independent voice in matters relating to natural history 

a)  Raise public awareness of issues in natural history 

b)  Raise government awareness of issues in natural history 

c)  Maintain successful relationships with the press and media 

3 Be a forum for our Fellows and others interested in natural history 

a)  Provide an outlet for Fellows’ expertise and interests 

b)  Link our Fellowship in common causes 

c)  Provide relevant support for other individuals and societies interested in the study of 

natural history         

d)   Increase the Fellowship, whilst maintaining membership standards 

4  Be a centre for the study for natural history 
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a)  Maintain our collections and library to the highest possible standards  

b)  Provide access to our collections and library for a wide audience 

5  Provide long-term user access to the Society’s rooms at New Burlington House 

a)  Secure the New Burlington House premises for our users 

b)  Expand existing and develop additional income streams for the Society 

 

PUBLIC BENEFIT 

The Linnean Society contributes to scientific, cultural, social and economic well-being 

nationally and internationally through a broad range of activities and programmes, pursuing 

its mission of the active cultivation of the science of natural history in all its branches. We use 

our unique scientific collections and library resources and our strong focus on biodiversity, 

evolution, science education, conservation and sustainability, to support care and 

understanding of our planet.  The Society’s key charitable activities contributing to our public 

benefit are: 

• Safeguarding and promoting the Society’s heritage collections, through cataloguing, 

conservation and digitisation, improving access to primary information by making 

these freely available to view globally through the Society’s website. 

• Advancing scientific knowledge and understanding through three world-class 

biological research journals, as well as free access to the collections’ biological 

specimens and historical resources, and providing support and recognition through 

grant schemes, medals and awards to emerging scientists and natural historians 

engaged in study of the natural world. 

• Engaging the public in two ways: through a public engagement programme which 

includes regular tours of the collections, joint conferences, free monthly public lectures 

(both at lunchtimes and evenings) held on a variety of topics; and an educational 

outreach programme which reaches out to all pupils and students, some of them 

future biologists and natural historians, that provides extensive educational and 

research resources, in schools, in New Burlington House and online. 

 

The Society’s activities contribute to the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 

(SDGs) through support for the scientific study of the natural world, and through our unique 

historical resources that illuminate environmental and social change. The Society connects 

academia with a broad and diverse public, informing UK government policy and promoting 

the international profile of the UK as a pre-eminent international hub for specialist and 

technical expertise about the natural world. 
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LOOKING FORWARD – 2019 

Fundamental progress has to do with the reinterpretation of ideas  

Alfred North Whitehead (1861–1947) 

 

The Society is looking forward to a vibrant and increasingly accessible future, where enhanced 

diversity and inclusion are imperatives.  Our incoming President Dr Sandy Knapp is keen to 

ensure these remain high on our agenda. We will be launching our new Discovery Room in 

2019; please do check out this excellent space in New Burlington House, which is ideal for a 

variety of engagement, across all age ranges.  If you have any additional suggestions or ideas 

we would be pleased to hear from you.  

 

Fully aware that visiting London may not be possible for some of our growing global 

audience, we continue to promote the Society through outreach.  By generating much more 

digital content than ever before, as well as making more of our collections, catalogues, 

archives and educational resources freely accessible, we aim to engage with a wide variety of 

users. 

  

The upcoming year is likely to see a number of significant challenges and will undoubtedly 

be a year of transition.  We anticipate the recommendations of the governance review, which 

will be carefully considered by Council and should provide positive suggestions for new ways 

of working, suitable for the larger charity we are becoming. The world of scientific publishing 

is also presenting challenges, the most recent being that of Plan S, the initiative for Open 

Access publishing that was launched by Science Europe in September 2018. Given the Society’s 

heavy dependence on its publishing revenues, we must monitor the impact of Open Access 

carefully and continue to work closely with our publishing partner, Oxford University 

Press.  As we move forward, it is essential that we find ways to diversify the Society’s revenue 

stream, but this will be no mean feat in practice. One great boost for our Society would be to 

grow the Fellowship, and the recently convened Membership Working Group is actively 

considering the best approach. You can all help by encouraging your colleagues and friends 

to join the Society. 

  

We are also working hard with the other Courtyard Societies to put the Society’s tenure at 

New Burlington House on a more secure footing. Resolving this issue, which has inhibited 

the Society’s medium-to-long term planning, will allow us to focus more effectively on our 

charitable objectives, maximising our public benefit, and making sure we are able fully to cater 

not only to academic audiences but to all those with a passion for the natural world. We look 

forward to engaging with you all. 

 

Dr Elizabeth Rollinson 

Executive Secretary  
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 

The full financial accounts were prepared to conform to the Statements of Recommended 

Practice (SORP – FRS 102), and are presented after the report of the External Auditors. For the 

benefit of the Fellowship, Summary Accounts are provided to give a simplified overview of 

the Society’s financial situation. Fellows will notice that these ‘Fellowship Accounts’ are in a 

different format to previous years, with the intention of promoting greater clarity and 

understanding of the Society’s finances. These abbreviated accounts continue to reconcile with 

the full SORP, with comments to aid cross-reference with the Fellowship Accounts given in 

previous Annual Reports.  

 

Largely driven by the move of the Society’s journals publishing activities to Oxford University 

Press (OUP), income from publications rose again in 2018, to £1,723,813 from £1,693,120 in 

2017. Expenditure increased by £238,827, reflecting a provision for rent adjustments relating 

to previous years and also due to the fact that there was a material write back of legal and 

professional fees in the previous year. There was also an increase in irrecoverable VAT due to 

the restriction on VAT reclaimable on education activities (largely due to VAT expenditure on 

building works for the Discovery Room). The following paragraphs highlight and explain 

some of the major areas of income and expenditure. 

 

INCOME 

Fellows, Donations, Contributions and Grants  

There were 2,580 paying Fellows at the end of the year, with a further 55 Associates and 107 

Student members. 123 new Fellows were elected (and paid up) during the year. There were 24 

resignations and 35 deaths. The total number of members, with Honorary and other non-

paying members included, now stands at 2,871, compared with 2,770 at the end of 2017. 

Currently there are 248 defaulters who need to pay their dues by 24 May 2019. The total income 

from Fellowship contributions Income rose to £148,196 from £146,724 in 2017, the latter 

boosted by £8,333 Gift Aid which is currently under review. It is sincerely hoped that all the 

Fellows who are in arrears will pay up promptly.  

 

The Society received a generous unrestricted bequest from the estate of Jan Pingree of £10,000. 

The Society is also very appreciative of the anonymous donations and those received through 

the AdoptLINN Programme, which received £ 8,303 supporting important conservation work 

on items held in the Society’s collections. The Society is particularly grateful for the grants and 

donations towards the Linnean Learning education and public engagement initiatives. 

Funding from John Lyon’s Charity for the BioMedia Meltdown project came to an end in 2018. 

The Society’s Council took the decision to continue this highly successful project for another 

two years from its own reserves. 

 

Building work on the new education room, now called the Discovery Room, has now been 

completed. This was made possible by generous grants received from the Garfield Weston 

Foundation and the Wolfson Foundation. 
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In total, income from Fellows’ contributions, donations, legacies and other contributions came 

to £251,110. The Society paid out £33,474 as Linnean and Systematics grants, of which £7,100 

was received from the Systematics Association. In addition the Trust and Special funds 

contributed £17,048 towards grants and awards. 

 

The Society is most grateful to all those funders and donors who have supported the Society 

during the year for their great generosity. It cannot be said often enough how valuable such 

grants, legacies and gifts are to the Society in helping to carry out its many public engagement 

programmes and other charitable activities. 

 

Publications and Royalties 

The income from the publishers of the Society’s journals provides a critical source of support 

for the Society. With the move to OUP for the Society’s journals, net income came in at 

£1,353,823, as compared to £1,303,000 in 2017. OUP contributed an additional £150,000 in 2018 

to cover transitional costs.  

  

The Society continues a policy of hybrid publication, enabling those authors who wish to or 

are required to publish Open Access to do so, while maintaining a default policy of not 

economically disenfranchising those authors with no or low funding by not levying page 

charges. As the primary source of income, the Society, along with our publisher, keeps a close 

eye on the worldwide changing policies of Open Access. The Society remains committed to 

providing no-cost or low-cost access to qualifying institutions under various international 

philanthropic publishing programmes. 

 

As reported earlier the transition to OUP has not been smooth and the Society extends 

particular thanks and appreciation to the Editors Professor John Allen, for the Biological Journal, 

Professor Mike Fay for the Botanical Journal, and Professor Louise Allcock for the Zoological 

Journal. Louise retired as Editor during the year, and was replaced by Dr Maarten 

Christenhusz. Led by Professor Mark Chase FRS, the Editorial Secretary, and supported by 

their editorial offices and reviewers, the Editors work tirelessly to maintain the quality of the 

Society’s journals. 

 

The Society received £1,584 in royalties from other publications such as books, in 2018. Total 

expenditure on Special Publications, including The Linnean, PuLSE and the Synopses, came to 

£18,221. 

 

Room Hire  

The Society hires its rooms at affordable rates primarily to organisations and charities linked 

to the natural world, around 40 of which are regular users.  Room hire income decreased to 

£30,620 in 2018 from £35,901 in 2017, largely as a result of a reduction in the total number of 

bookings, which decreased from 192 in 2017 to 177 in 2018. The biggest reduction in the 

number of bookings was for our small meeting room – likely driven by the economic climate 

as well as the growing technology in online meetings platforms, which is becoming an 

attractive option for many charities, which are our main market.   
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Investments 

Investment Policy 

The general aim is to enhance the value of both capital and income on a long-term sustainable 

basis. Investments are to be of a prudent nature, offering no more than a moderate risk and 

avoiding more speculative investments. 

 

The Society continues to receive good advice and management of its investments through the 

services of our nominated advisor Gregor McNie under the auspices of Tilney. The book value 

of the share portfolio (General and Trust & Special Funds) was increased by £592,049 from 

£2,155,336 to £2,747,385 representing additional funds invested during the year. There was an 

overall realised and unrealised loss on investments during the year of £356,130 resulting in a 

closing market value of £3,419,134. The income return on investments as a whole was 3.7% 

compared with 4.3% last year, which reflects the volatility of investment market during the 

year. The increased investment income available to the General Fund is £61,963 compared with 

£56,725 for 2017, showing a steady increase.  Full details are available in Note 11 on p.55.  

 

The total income from all investments, both for the General Reserve and Trust & Special Fund, 

was £105,303 compared with £96,494 earned last year in 2017. 

 

EXPENDITURE 

 

Society Activities 

While all the Society costs are incurred in supporting the Society’s charitable activities and 

delivering the Society’s objective to Inspire, Inform, be a Forum and Study Centre for Natural 

History it is worth noting that this is strongly focused through public engagement activities 

and events, both within house and through outreach. 

 

Our seven core functions reported in the Accounts are, Collections: Curatorial, Collections: 

Conservation and digitisation, Education, Publications, Scientific Meetings, Library, and 

Research Sponsorship. While the abbreviated accounts are there for ease of understanding 

how much is spent on our charitable activities, the full SOFA gives the reader a greater 

understanding of how much the Society spends on each of these seven activities which 

contribute to our charitable objectives. The Society spent just over £1.5M on these in 2018. 

 

Heritage Assets 

The Society bought for the Library two volumes of The Transylvania Florilegium. Payment of 

£5,475 for the first volume was made in 2018, with the second volume expected in 2019. The 

value of this publication has been transferred to Heritage Assets. 
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Salaries and National Insurance 

Expenditure on direct salaries and National Insurance for core staff fell slightly to £569,089 in 

2018 compared with £569,668 in 2017. This covers all the non-project staff employment costs 

and their pension schemes. Lynda Brooks retired in 2018 and Isabelle Charmantier was 

appointed Head of Collections as of the 1st of August 2018. In addition, Dorothy Fouracre was 

appointed Librarian in September 2018. Elizabeth McGow was away on maternity leave for 

most of 2018, with Vida Milovanovic appointed for one year as maternity cover. Zia Forrai 

joined the education team in September on a short-term contract. Employment costs amounted 

to 31% of the total Society income in 2018, accounting for 50% of total Society expenditure. 

 

Remuneration Policy for Senior Management 

Remuneration for the Senior Management Team which comprises the Executive Secretary, the 

Financial Controller, the Librarian and the Head of Collections is reviewed by the Officers of 

the Society, taking into consideration current trends in like-organisations, and approved by 

the Trustees. 

 

Legal and Related Professional Fees 

There were minimal legal costs in 2018 associated with the lease. It is expected that 2019 will 

see further expenditure under this heading. 

 

Buildings and Infrastructure 

The full costs of running and maintaining the Society’s premises came to £190,101 in 2018, 

compared to £182,236 in 2017. Website development, hosting and maintenance costs were 

£31,462 in 2018.  

 

The 2018 account shows a significant increase in Ministry of Housing Community and Local 

Government (MHCLG, previously known as DCLG) costs. Provision was made in the 2016 

and 2017 accounts for rents due under the previous lease (which expired in 2015), based on 

estimates against previous actual increases in rent. The Society received a memorandum for 

those years in late 2017, but no invoices were issued in the reporting period. In the absence of 

any information on the proposed rent for 2015, or any mechanism for calculating annual 

increases, estimates of the likely liability have been based on the last known procedure used 

by HMG, the Resource Accounting Procedure. The funds against rent liabilities will, 

necessarily, remain ring-fenced while the Society waits to hear from MHCLG.  

 

FUNDS 

 

Designated Funds 

The Mortgage Liability Fund stands at £249,788. Special Library Expenses provision stands at 

£6,470. The Development Fund stands at £200,000. With the uncertainty over rents for New 

Burlington House from 2015 onwards, and the affordability to the Society in the medium term, 

a Designated Fund of £300,000, the Building Fund, was set up in 2017 to cover the financial 

risks and liabilities associated with and required by the lease on vacating the premises. Based 

on previous costs incurred, the Society has set up a further Designated Fund, The Legal Fund, 
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of £100,000 to cover the expected costs of renewing the current lease on New Burlington 

House.  See Note 16 on p.59 

 

Reserves Policy 

The Society’s general reserve is held to facilitate cash flow and to enable the Society to continue 

to operate effectively in the event that income be significantly reduced. The general reserve is 

also held to provide funding for projects which have not attracted external funding (e.g. the 2-

year extension of the BioMedia Meltdown project, continuing the momentum built during the 

first two years funded by John Lyon’s Charity). The Trustees consider that a minimum of 5 

months of operational expenditure should be held in the General Reserve with a minimum of 

approximately £400k to £600k. In addition, the Society holds designated reserves to reflect 

funds spent on fixed assets and to earmark funds for planned future expenditure. The current 

balance on the General Reserve is just over £2m which the Trustees consider reasonable in the 

context of budgeted costs and uncertainty over continued occupation of New Burlington 

House.  
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Summarised Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) 

 
2018 2017 

 £ £ 

Income from:     

Grants1 91,384 122,167  

Donations and Legacies2 11,530 10,933  

Charitable Activities 
  

 Members Contributions3 148,196 146,724  

 Safeguarding and promoting our heritage collections4 11,552 7,939  

 Advancing scientific knowledge and understanding5 1,731,660 1,697,661  

Investments6 105,303 96,494  

Other Trading Activities7 40,655 43,323  

Total Income 2,140,280  2,125,241  

   
Expenditure on:     

Charitable activities8 
  

 Safeguarding and promoting our heritage collections9 579,607  447,271  

 Advancing scientific knowledge and understanding10 659,742  646,066  

 Engaging the public and educational outreach11 202,651  105,159  

Raising funds12 7,821  12,498  

Total Expenditure 1,449,821  1,210,994  

   
Surplus (Deficit) for the Year     

Surplus (Deficit) before Gains (Losses) on Investments13 690,459  914,247  

   
Gains (Losses) on Investments14 (356,130) 245,896  

   
Surplus (Deficit) 15 334,329  1,160,143  
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Comments on the Summarised Statement of Financial Activities 

1 Includes total value of grants at time of award for multi-year projects (Accounts Note 2). 

2 Non-grant donations, legacies (Accounts Note 2). 

3 Membership contributions, tax recovered. 

4 Library, Treasures Tours, AdoptLINN, book sales. 

5 Publications, scientific meetings (Accounts Note 3). 

6 Including investment income into Restricted Funds. 

7 Room hire, catering (Accounts Note 4). 

8 Including general expenditure on activities and support costs (Accounts Notes 6, 7 & 8). 

9 Library, collections, digital assets, Linnaeus Link project, website (Accounts Note 6). 

10 Publications, scientific meetings, research sponsorship, medals, affiliation fees (Accounts 

Note 6). 

11 Education activities, BioMedia Meltdown project, Discovery Room refurbishment 

(Accounts Note 6). 

12 Investment management costs. 

13 In Charity SORP, the terminology is “Net Income/(Expenditure) before Investment 

Gains/(Losses)”. 

14 In Charity SORP, the terminology is “Net Gains/(Losses) on Investments”. 

15 In Charity SORP, the terminology is “Net Movement in Funds”. 
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Summarised Balance Sheet 

 

2018 

£ 

2017 

£ 

Fixed Assets     

Heritage Assets1 1,556,475  1,551,000  

Tangible Fixed Assets2 756,206  742,131  

Investment at Market Value3 3,419,134  3,266,539  

Total Fixed Assets 5,731,815  5,559,670  

   
Current Assets     

Debtors4 508,473  472,156  

Short Term Deposits 984,163  932,617  

Cash at Bank and in Hand 1,877,502  1,782,931  

Total Current Assets 3,370,138  3,187,704  

   
Other Liabilities     

Creditors due within one year5 (2,331,471) (2,302,633) 

Creditors due after one year6 (249,788) (258,376) 

   
Net Assets 6,520,694  6,186,365  

   
Funds     

Endowment Funds7 675,968  746,961  

Restricted Funds7 2,255,424  2,343,048  

Unrestricted Funds8 3,589,302  3,096,356  

   
Total Funds 6,520,694  6,186,365  
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Comments on the Summarised Balance Sheet 

1 Valuation of significant collections acquired since, but not before, 2010, held on trust (For 

further explanation see Accounts Note 9). 

2 Property, fixtures and fittings, office equipment, etc (Accounts Note 10). 

3 UK fixed interest, UK & overseas equities (Accounts Note 11). 

4 Dues from publisher and other debtors (Accounts Note 12). 

5 Advance from the publisher (OUP), advance Fellows contributions, other creditors 

(Accounts Note 13). 

6 Mortgage on Toynbee House (Accounts Note 14). 

7 Trust and Special Fund (Accounts Note 15). 

8 Designated Funds, General Reserve Fund (Accounts Notes 16 & 17). 
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RISK ASSESSMENT 

 

The Trustees regularly review the major strategic, business and operational risks which the 

Society faces and have implemented appropriate systems and procedures to mitigate these 

risks. During 2011, a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) was developed to enable the Society to 

continue normal operations in the event of a serious disruptive incident.  The BCP was 

updated in 2018.  

 

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE 

CHARITIES ACT 

 

The Trustees are required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a 

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Society and of the surplus or deficit of the Society 

for that year. In preparing those financial statements, the Trustees are required to: 

 

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent 

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is 

inappropriate to presume that the Society will continue in business 

 

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 

reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Society and to enable them to 

ensure that the financial statements comply with relevant legislation. They are also responsible 

for safeguarding the assets of the Society and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

Responsibilities of the Treasurer 

Fellows of the Society have, through the Society’s Bye Laws (BL) accepted at a General Meeting 

of the Society held on 15th February 1990 and published in July 1991, agreed (BL Section 12) 

that “the Treasurer (of the Society) shall require the keeping of detailed accounts of all receipts 

and payments (BL 12.1), shall be responsible for the financial affairs of the Society and shall 

advise the Officers and Council both of the long term trends and matters of the moment 

concerning financial strategy. Taking advice from the Finance Committee and Professional 

advisers, when appropriate, the Treasurer shall act in the name of the Society on matters of 

investment (BL 12.3)”. 

 

Audit Arrangements 

“A firm of chartered accountants shall be appointed by the Fellows at the Anniversary Meeting 

as Auditors for the following year (BL 12.5). Prior to their presentation to the Anniversary 

Meeting, the Annual Statement of Accounts and the report of the Professional auditors shall 

be examined by an Audit Review Committee of Fellows. This Committee, to be elected 

annually, shall consist of three members of Council (including the President or a Vice-

President), and two Fellows who are not members of Council who shall be elected at a General 

Meeting. The Committee shall report to Council and Fellows at the Anniversary Meeting (BL 

12.6)”. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

THE LINNEAN SOCIETY OF LONDON 

 

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

We have audited the financial statements of The Linnean Society for the year ended 31st 

December 2018 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the 

Cash Flow Statement and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 

(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the charity’s affairs as at 31st  December 2018 and 

of its incoming resources and application of resources, for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011. 

 

This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees and members, as a body, in accordance 

with Section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and regulations made under Section 154 of that Act. 

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we may state to the Trustees and members those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To 

the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 

than Trustees and members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 

we have formed. 

 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 

(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 

are independent of the charity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 

our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 
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CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 

(UK) require us to report to you where: 

 

• the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 

financial statements is not appropriate; or 

• the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the charity’s ability to continue to 

adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from 

the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 

OTHER INFORMATION 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the 

other information.  

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 

be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 

financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 

we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Charities 

(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 

• the information given in the Report of the Trustees is inconsistent in any material respect 

with the financial statements; or 

• sufficient accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; 

or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2018 

  Un- 
restricted 

 
 

Restricted 

 
 

Endowment 

 
 

2018 

 
 

2017 
Notes Funds Funds Funds Total Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ 

Income and Endowments From:       
Donations and Legacies 2 21,075 81,839 - 102,914 133,100 
Charitable Activities       
  Members’ Contributions  148,196 - - 148,196 146,724 
  Publications 3 1,723,813 - - 1,723,813 1,693,120 
  Scientific Meetings  7,847 - - 7,847 4,541 
  Library  11,552 - - 11,552 7,939 
Other Trading Activities 4 40,655 - - 40,655 43,323 
Investments  61,963 43,340 - 105,303 96,494 

       

Total Income and Endowments  2,015,101 125,179 - 2,140,280 2,125,241 

       
Expenditure On:       

Raising Funds       

Investment Management Costs  3,374 4,447 - 7,821 12,498 

       

Charitable Activities 6      

  Education  165,748 36,903 - 202,651 105,159 

  Publications  375,319 - - 375,319 424,036 

  Scientific Meetings  207,136 - - 207,136 157,947 

  Library  298,593 2,081 - 300,674 228,657 

  Collections: Curatorial  159,116 - - 159,116 123,680 

  Collections: Conservation  119,817 - - 119,817 94,934 

  Research Sponsorship  53,897 23,390 - 77,287 64,083 

Total Expenditure  1,383,000 66,821 - 1,449,821 1,210,994 

Net Income/(Expenditure) before 

Investment Gains/(Losses) 

 

  

632,101 

 

58,358 

 

- 

 

690,459 

 

914,247 

       

Net Gains/(Losses) on Investments  (225,845) (59,292) (70,993) (356,130) 245,896 

Net Income/(Expenditure)  406,256 (934) (70,993) 334,329 1,160,143 
Transfers  86,690 (86,690) - - - 
Other Recognised Gains/(Losses)  - - - - - 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS  492,946 (87,624) (70,993) 334,329 1,160,143 
Fund balance brought forward at 
31/12/2017 

  

3,096,356 

 

2,343,048 

 

746,961 

 

6,186,365 

 

5,026,222 

Fund balance carried forward at 

31/12/2018 
  

£3,589,302 

 

£2,255,424 

 

£675,968 

 

£6,520,694 

 

 

£6,186,365 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31ST DECEMBER 2018 

 

 
Notes 2018  2017 

 
 £  £  £  £ 

CASH FLOWS FROM 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

        

 

Cash generated from 

operations 

 

20 

 

632,135 

    

594,639 

  

 

Interest paid 

  

(10,463) 

    

(10,017) 

  

Net Cash provided by (used 

in) operating activities 

    

621,672 

    

584,622 

 
 

       

CASH FLOWS FROM 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
       

Dividends, interest and rents 

from investments  
 

105,303 

    

96,494 

  

Purchase of Property, Plant 

and Equipment 

 

 

 

(58,070) 

    

(33,383) 

  

Purchase of Heritage Asset  (5,475)    -   

Proceeds from sale of 

investments 

 

11 

 

284,407 

    

312,026 

  

Purchase of investments 11 (793,132)    (331,009)   

Net Cash provided by (used 

in) investing activities 

    

(466,967) 

    

44,128 

         

CASH FLOWS FROM 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

        

Repayments of Borrowing  (8,588)    (9,007)   

Net Cash provided by (used 

in) financing activities 

    

(8,588) 

    

(9,007) 

         

Change in cash and cash 

equivalents in the reporting 

period 

 
   

146,117 

    

619,743 

Cash and cash equivalents at 

the beginning of the 

reporting period 

    

2,715,548 

    

2,095,805 

Cash and cash equivalents at 

the end of the reporting 

period 

    

£2,861,665 

    

£2,715,548 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2018 

 

1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounts are prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 and the 

Charities SORP (FRS 102) and in compliance with the Charities Act 2011. The Society is a Public 

Benefit Entity. 

 

Depreciation is provided on tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write each asset down 

to its estimated residual value over its expected useful life as follows: 

 

Property                                                       50 years  

Lift and associated refurbishment work  30 years  

Furniture and Fixtures    10 years  

Air conditioning     10 years  

Office Equipment     3 years 

 

Investments are stated at mid-market value. Gains and losses on disposals and revaluations of 

fixed asset investments are reported in the Statement of Financial Activities and added to the 

funds to which they relate. 

 

Investment income is accounted for gross in the year of receipt. 

 

Donations and legacies are accounted for when the Society is unconditionally entitled to 

receipt. No account is taken of stock held for resale. 

Contributions income is stated net of amounts received in respect of future years. 

 

The Society is partially exempt for VAT purposes. Expenditure is stated net of VAT with 

irrecoverable VAT shown as a separate expense item. 

 

Support costs are allocated to charitable activities on the basis of estimates of staff time spent 

on those activities and, in relation to accommodation costs, the relative space used by those 

activities. 

 

Heritage assets donated to the Society are valued by an independent expert at the time of their 

donation. 

 

Expenditure is accounted for when there is a constructive or contractual liability arising. A 

provision is made when the amount payable cannot be determined with certainty. 
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2. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES 

 

 2018  2017 
 Unrestricted  Restricted  Total 
 Funds  Funds  Funds 
 £  £  £ 
      

Other Funds for Grants and Awards 9,545  -  12,167 

Garfield Weston grant -  -  50,000 

Wolfson grant -  74,990  - 

John Lyon’s Charity grant -  -  60,000 

PRISM Project grant -  6,849  - 

Legacies 10,000  -  5,000 

Other Donations 1,530  -  5,933 

 £21,075  £81,839  £133,100 

 

 

3. PUBLICATIONS 

 

   2018  2017 

   £  £ 

Joint Publication Account   1,571,663  1,542,036 

Contract Publication Income 

released 

  150,000  150,000 

Other Publication Sales   566  517 

Royalties   1,584  567 

   £1,723,813  £1,693,120 

 

 

4. OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES 

 

   2018  2017 

   £  £ 

Room Hire   30,620  35,901 

Catering   5,029  7,396 

Botanical Art Course   2,728  - 

Other   2,278  26 

   £40,655  £43,323 
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5. JOINT PUBLICATION ACCOUNT 

 

 -----------------------2018---------------------- ---------------------2017-------------------- 

 Total Publisher 

Share 

Society 

Share 

Total Publisher 

Share 

Society 

Share 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

SALES       

Journals 2,095,551   2,056,048   

       

 2,095,551 523,888 1,571,663 2,056,048 514,012 1,542,036 

       

PUBLICATION COSTS       

Production and 

Distribution 

141,330   163,484   

Editorial  7,985   8,647   

Publishers’ Overheads -   -   

 149,315 37,329 111,986 172,131 43,033 129,098 

       

SURPLUS 1,946,236 486,559 1,459,677 1,883,917 470,979 1,412,938 

       

Other Costs Incurred by   

Society 

      

Editorial Costs  - 105,854  - 109,938 

Supplement Charge       

Excess page charge       

Charges by publisher for 

issues supplied to 

members 

  

- 

 

- 

  

- 

 

- 

   1,353,823   1,303,000 

       

       

   £1,353,823   £1,303,000 

       

SUMMARY       

Society’s share of Income –  

  Note 3 

   

1,571,663 

   

1,542,036 

Society’s share of Joint 

costs   and other directly 

incurred   Costs 

   

(217,840) 

   

(239,036) 

   £1,353,823   £1,303,000 
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6. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 
 Activities 

Undertaken 

Directly 

Grant 

Funding  

Activities 

Support 

Costs 

(Note 8) 

 

Total 

2018 

 

Total 

2017 

 £ £ £ £ £ 

Education      

Education Costs 10,528 - - 10,528 24,317 

BioMedia Meltdown (John Lyon’s 

Charity) 1 

- - - - 6,153 

BioMedia Meltdown (John Lyon’s 

Charity) 2 

26,309 - - 26,309 27,803 

Wolfson grant; Garfield Weston 

grant 

10,594 - - 10,594 11,279 

Botanical Art Course 1,864 - - 1,864 - 

Support Costs - - 153,356 153,356 35,607 

Total 49,295 - 153,356 202,651 105,159 

      

Publications      

Joint Publication Account (Note 5) 217,840 - - 217,840 239,036 

The Linnean Newsletter and Pulse 17,470 - - 17,470 17,933 

Synopses 751 - - 751 - 

Support Costs - - 139,258 139,258 167,067 

 236,061 - 139,258 375,319 424,036 

      

Scientific Meetings 26,302 - 180,317 206,619 157,947 

Travel Grant 517 - - 517 - 

 26,819 - 180,317 207,136 157,947 

Library      

Library Expenditure 14,036 - - 14,036 11,518 

Special Library costs - - - - 9,004 

PRISM Project 2,081 - - 2,081 - 

Support Costs - - 284,557 284,557 208,135 

 16,117 - 284,557 300,674 228,657 

Collections: Curatorial      

The Linnaeus Link Project 7,653 - - 7,653 12,166 

Support Costs - - 151,463 151,463 111,514 

 7,653 - 151,463 159,116 123,680 

Collections: Conservation and 

Digitisation  

     

IT Consultant and Hardware for 

  Projects 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

1,008 

Hosting of images 26,555 - - 26,555 24,010 

Support Costs - - 93,262 93,262 69,916 

 26,555 - 93,262 119,817 94,934 

      

Research Sponsorship - 57,217 20,070 77,287 64,083 

      

Total £362,500 £57,217 £1,022,283 £1,442,000 £1,198,496 
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6. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 

 

The grants set out above include grants made to individuals.  In total, grants were paid 

to 31 individuals (2017: 32) during the year. 

 

7. GOVERNANCE COSTS 

 

 2018  2017 

 £  £ 

Expenses of Officers and Council 9,050  22,710 

Audit Fee 5,700  5,550 

Governance Review 7,700  - 

Legal and Professional Fees 7,357  (112,635) 

Staff and Other Related Costs 24,761  21,387 

 £54,568  £(62,988) 
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8. SUPPORT COSTS 
   

 

Educatio

n 

 

 

Publications 

 

Scientific 

Meetings 

 

 

Library 

 

Collections 

Curatorial 

Collections 

Conservation 

& Digitisation 

 

Research 

Sponsorship 

 

Total 

2018 

 

Total 

2017 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

           

 Salaries and Wages 116,820 80,965 86,998 129,280 77,014 49,318 11,466 551,861 497,670 

 Premises Costs 15,694 10,182 20,746 22,229 14,374 15,658 - 98,883 103,829 

 Repairs and Maintenance 12,656 5,172 10,194 10,194 17,603 17,604 - 73,423 60,357 

 Office Costs - 2,568 4,036 8,256 2,202 183 550 17,795 18,050 

 Other Costs (depreciation, 

rent provision) 

- 32,938 48,718 99,409 32,185 5,521 6,982 225,753 132,011 

 Governance Costs 8,186 7,433 9,625 15,189 8,085 4,978 1,072 54,568 (62,988) 

  £153,356 £139,258 £180,317 £284,557 £151,463 £93,262 £20,070 £1,022,283 £748,929 

           

 SALARY COSTS  2018 

Total 

 2017 

Total 

     

   £  £      

 Gross Salary 479,910  484,739      

 Employers National Insurance 47,646  48,561      

 Employers Pension Contribution 41,533  36,368      

   £569,089  £569,668      

 Charged direct to Projects  -  50,611      

 Charged to Support Costs  551,861  497,670      

 Charged to Governance  17,228  21,387      

   £569,089  £569,668     

 

The average number of employees was 22 (2017: 18).    

No employee earned more than £60,000.   The total emoluments of the senior management team amounted to £186,598 (2017: £160,047).   

Council and Committee members provide their services gratis and receive only out of pocket expenses. 

Travel and subsistence expenses were paid to 8 (2017: 12) Officers and Council and Committee members amounting in total to £9,050 (2017: £22,710). 

Included within salary costs above are redundancy costs amounting to £2,484 (2017: £nil). 
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9.  HERITAGE ASSETS 

Heritage assets acquired since 2010 2018 

 £ 
COST  

At 1st January 2018 1,551,000 

Additions in Year 5,475 

At 31st December 2018 1,556,475 

DEPRECIATION  

At 1st January 2018 - 

Charge for the Year - 

At 31st December 2018 - 

NET BOOK VALUE  

At 31st December 2018 £1,556,475 

At 31st December 2017 £1,551,000 

 

In 2015, the Society received from the Charles Darwin Trust a gift of Darwinian and Wallacean 

material which contained many key works, manuscripts and letters which has been valued at 

£1.5m. In accordance with FRS 102, donated heritage assets have been included at valuation. 

The Society also holds a large number of scientific and historic assets which cannot easily be 

valued and which will not be sold because their maintenance is part of the primary objective 

of the Society. As a result, these heritage assets are not included in the Balance Sheet. These 

assets comprise: 

a.  scientific collections                 b. books and periodicals  c.  portraits and busts 

 

These heritage assets the Society are of primary value, internationally, to the biological 

sciences, and in terms of cultural value, to the history of science. The main collections of dried 

plant material, preserved animal specimens and correspondence to Carl Linnaeus and Sir 

James Edward Smith provide the foundation for all biological systematics, taxonomy and 

nomenclature. 

All this material is irreplaceable and so it is stored under optimum conservation conditions. 

The collections themselves are accessible physically by any bona fide research worker, 

accompanied by a curator or appropriate member of staff. The Society, with generous grant 

funding, has financed the preparation of digitised images of the Linnaean material, and these 

are accessible to all, at no charge, through the Society’s website. 

The Society’s Acquisitions Policy recommends that any additional material must be in fields 

relevant to existing material. Archives of those individuals who have worked or are working 

in biological science are also welcomed. 

The Society’s insurance policies cover damage to the fabric of the building and the seek and 

find or repair of the Library’s book stock, paintings and busts, but not the plant and animal 

collections as they are unique and irreplaceable. As such, they are invaluable to research and 

science but are valueless for insurance purposes. 
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10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

 

 

11. INVESTMENTS 

  

 

 

 

Freehold 

Property 

 

Lift and 

Building 

Works 

Air 

Conditioning 

Office 

Equipment 

Other Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

COST       

At 1st January 2018 518,854 225,752 57,759 148,303 183,455 1,134,123 

Additions in Year - - - 5,381 52,689 58,070 

At 31st December 2018 518,854 225,752 57,759 153,684 236,144 1,192,193 

DEPRECIATION       

At 1st January 2018 39,497 37,625 56,108 136,499 122,263 391,992 

Charge for the Year 7,377 7,525 1,651 9,755 17,687 43,995 

At 31st December 2018 46,874 45,150 57,759 146,254 139,950 435,987 

NET BOOK VALUE       

At 31st December 2018 £471,980 £180,602 £- £7,430 £96,194 £756,206 

At 31st December 2017 £479,357 £188,127 £1,651 £11,804 £61,192 £742,131 

 -----------------2018-----------------  -----------------2017----------------- 

 Book 

Cost 

 Market 

Value 

 Book 

Cost 

 Market 

Value 

 £  £  £  £ 

UK Fixed Interest  

255,760 
  

263,947 
  

255,760 
  

270,593 

UK Equities 1,366,691  1,564,050  1,120,555  1,598,245 

Overseas Equities 1,124,934  1,591,137  779,021  1,397,701 

 £2,747,385  £3,419,134  £2,155,336  £3,266,539 

Investment Portfolio        

Market Value brought forward   3,266,539    3,001,660 

Add: Acquisitions   793,132    331,009 

Less:  Disposals   (284,407)    (312,026) 

Realised Gains (Losses) on 

Disposals 

  83,506    (10,760) 

Gain (Loss) on Revaluation                           (439,636)    256,656 

Market Value carried forward             £3,419,134    £3,266,539 

 

Investments are held on a long-term basis to generate investment income for the Society. Realised Gains 

represent the difference between the sales proceeds and original cost of investments sold during the 

year.  Revaluation gains and losses arise from the revaluation of investments to market value at the year-

end. 
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12. DEBTORS 

 

    2018  2017 

    £  £ 

Due from Publisher    405,677  368,394 

Other Debtors    102,796  103,762 

    £508,473  £472,156 

 

13. CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due within one year 

 

 2018  2017 

 £  £ 

Contributions received in advance 59,716  60,058 

Publishing income received in advance  1,515,346  1,654,000 

Rent Provision 372,267  244,864 

VAT 300,519  272,222 

Other Creditors 83,623  71,489 

 £2,331,471  £2,302,633 

 

14. CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due after one year 

 

    2018  2017 

    £  £ 

Mortgage on Toynbee Property    249,788  258,376 

    £249,788  £258,376 

 

The Toynbee mortgage is payable at 3.56% above base rate over 25 years and is 

secured on the property. 
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15.  ENDOWMENTS & RESTRICTED FUNDS 

 ----------------------- Permanent Endowments ---------------------

---- 

-----------------------------------------Restricted Funds--------------------------------------

-------  

 

 

 

 

Balance at 

1. 1.18 

Endowments 

Received 

Gain/(Loss) 

on MV 

Balance 

31.12.18 

Balance at 

1.1.18 

Incoming 

Resources 

Resources 

Expended & 

Transfers 

Gain/(Loss) 

on MV 

Balance at 

31.12.18 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Westwood Fund 7,326 - (668) 6,658 210 231 (231) - 210 
Trail-Crisp Fund 6,592 - (619) 5,973 3,284 273 (118) (166) 3,273 
Hooker Fund 16,962 - (1,593) 15,369 13,143 839 (167) (829) 12,986 
Goodenough Fund - - - - 33,254 888 (723) (2,599) 30,820 
Minchin Fund - - - - 1,475 47 (47) (139) 1,336 
Jane Jackson Fund 76,225 - (7,159) 69,066 - 2,454 (2,454) - - 
The HH Bloomer Fund 18,189 - (1,672) 16,517 7,017 749 (537) (497) 6,732 
P. Appleyard Fund 76,695 - (7,034) 69,661 14,154 2,662 (530) (691) 15,595 
Dennis Stanfield Memorial Fund 44,259 - (4,113) 40,146 4,111 1,478 (2,421) (182) 2,986 
Omer Cooper Fund - - - - 70,310 1,890 (1,863) (5,425) 64,912 
Bonhote Fund 30,918 - (2,763) 28,155 1,104 962 (962) (25) 1,079 
Jill Smythies Prize Fund 51,170 - (4,806) 46,364 811 1,649 (1,579) - 881 
Irene Manton Prize Fund 63,632 - (5,976) 57,656 8,223 2,279 (1,453) (664) 8,385 
A.G. Side Fund - - - - 64,680 1,874 (372) (5,424) 60,758 
Jan Gillett Fund - - - - 8,762 232 (46) (663) 8,285 
Denis Owen Fund - - - - 2,214 - - - 2,214 
Ivy Eleanor Sleep Fund 188,231 - (17,678) 170,553 123,073 9,524 (7,632) (9,948) 115,017 
Trewavas/Greenwood Fund - - - - 33,866 974 (193) (2,810) 31,837 
Eleanor McMillan Fund - - - - 181,613 5,964 (1,182) (17,147) 169,248 
Zimmerman Fund 166,762 - (16,912) 149,850 24,119 5,849 (1,162) - 28,806 
John Marsden Fund - - - - 29,974 853 (1,170) (2,472) 27,185 
Andrew W. Mellon Foundation - - - - (62) - - - (62) 
The John Topp Fund - - - - 138,391 1,669 (2,995) (9,611) 127,454 
John Lyon’s Charity - - - - 35,698 - (26,309) - 9,389 
Read Project - - - - 4,904 - (4,904) - - 
PRISM Project - - - - - 6,849 (2,081) - 4,768 
Wolfson/Garfield Weston - - - - 38,720 74,990 (92,380) - 21,330 
 £746,961 £- £(70,993) £675,968 £843,048 £125,179 £(153,511) £(59,292) £755,424 
HERITAGE ASSET          
Charles Darwin Trust - - - - 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 
 £- £- £- £- £1,500,000 £- £- £- £1,500,000 
          
TOTAL £746,961 £- £(70,993) £675,968 £2,343,048 £125,179 £(153,511) £(59,292) £2,255,424 
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15.  ENDOWMENTS & RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONTINUED) 

 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

Permanent Endowments represent capital funds where only the income arising may be spent.  

Unspent income balances are disclosed as separate restricted funds, available to be spent in the 

future, although, from time to time, unspent balances may be added to capital.  

 

Restricted funds may only be spent for the purpose prescribed by the donor. 

 

The transfer from the Wolfson restricted grant represents the funds spent on fixed assets which 

are held in the general fund and being depreciated.
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16.  DESIGNATED FUNDS 

 

  2018  2017 

  £  £ 

Mortgage Liability  249,788  258,000 

Special Library Expenses  6,470  6,470 

Fellows Appeal  42,578  42,578 

Development Fund  200,000  200,000 

Fixed Asset Fund  506,418  484,131 

Legal Costs Fund  100,000  100,000 

Building Fund  300,000  300,000 

  £1,405,254  £1,391,179 

 

A Fixed Asset Fund has been set up as a separate designated reserve from 2013 to represent 

the extent to which the Society’s general reserve has been utilised to acquire fixed assets. This 

ensures that the balance on the general reserve gives a better indication of the funds available 

to the Society. 

 

17.  GENERAL RESERVE 

 

  2018  2017 

  £  £ 

Balance 1st January   1,705,177  1,128,626 

Net Movement in funds for the year   406,256  969,484 

Transfer from Designated Funds  -  - 

Transfer (to) Designated Funds  (14,075)  (392,933) 

Transfer from Restricted Funds  86,690  - 

Balance at 31st December  £2,184,048  £1,705,177 

 

18.  ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS 

 

  

Investments 

 

Fixed 

Assets 

Current 

Assets 

 

Liabilities 

 

Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 

Endowment and  

  Restricted  Funds 

 

1,204,936 

 

1,500,000 

 

226,456 

 

- 

 

2,931,392 

Unrestricted 

Funds 

2,214,198 812,681 3,143,682 (2,581,259) 3,589,302 

 £3,419,134 £2,312,681 £3,370,138 £(2,581,259) £6,520,694 
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19.  PREMISES 

 

The Society has a long term (80 year) lease on its New Burlington House premises which was 

negotiated in 2005 with the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, now administered by the 

Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). The annual rent is based 

on the government accounting methodology involving annual valuations. No rental invoices 

have been received from the MHCLG’s managing agents for the current or preceding three 

years and the process and methodology for calculating the rent payable has been disputed by 

the Society. In the current year a provision of £127,404 has been made in the accounts (2017: 

£52,816) which is an estimate of the maximum amount payable. 

 

20.  RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) TO NET CASH FLOW 

FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

  2018  2017 

  £  £ 

     

Net income for the reporting period  334,329  1,160,143 

     

Adjustments for:     

Interest paid  10,463  10,017 

Depreciation  43,995  40,450 

(Gains)/Losses on investments  356,130  (245,896) 

Dividends, interest and rents from investments  (105,303)  (96,494) 

(Increase) in Debtors  (36,317)  (93,772) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors  28,838  (179,809) 

     

  £632,135  £594,639 

 

21.  RELATED PARTY DECLARATIONS 

 

One trustee, Dr Maarten Christenhusz, received fees of £5,105 (2017: £6,000) for editorial work 

undertaken during the year on the Society’s publications. He resigned as a trustee on 20 

November 2018. There were no other transactions with related parties during the year. 
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22.  COMPARATIVES FOR THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 

YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2017 

 

  Un- restricted    Restricted 

 

Restricted 

  Endowment 

 

Endowment 

 

 

2016 Notes Funds Funds Funds Total 
 £ £ £ £ 

Income and Endowments From:      

Donations and Legacies 2 22,355 110,745 - 133,100 

Charitable Activities      

  Members’ Contributions  146,724 - - 146,724 

  Publications 3 1,693,120 - - 1,693,120 

  Scientific Meetings  4,541 - - 4,541 

  Library  7,939 - - 7,939 

Other Trading Activities 4 43,323 - - 43,323 

Investments  56,725 39,769 - 96,494 

      

Total Income and Endowments  1,974,727 150,514 - 2,125,241 

      

Expenditure On:      

Raising Funds      

Investment Management Costs  7,376 5,122 - 12,498 

      

Charitable Activities 6     

  Education  59,923 45,236 - 105,159 

  Publications  424,036 - - 424,036 

  Scientific Meetings  157,947 - - 157,947 

  Library  220,652 8,005 - 228,657 

  Collections: Curatorial  123,680 - - 123,680 

  Collections: Conservation & 

     Digitisation 

 94,934 - - 94,934 

  Research Sponsorship  56,184 7,899 - 64,083 

Total Expenditure  1,144,732 66,262 - 1,210,994 

Net Income/(Expenditure) before 

Investment Gains/(Losses) 

 

  

829,995 

 

84,252 

 

- 

 

914,247 

      

Net Gains/(Losses) on Investments  139,489 48,425 57,982 245,896 

Net Income/(Expenditure)  969,484 132,677 57,982 1,160,143 

Transfers  - - - - 

Other Recognised Gains/(Losses)  - - - - 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS  969,484 132,677 57,982 1,160,143 

Fund balance brought forward at 

31/12/2016 

  

2,126,872 

 

2,210,371 

 

688,979 

 

5,026,222 

Fund balance carried forward at 

31/12/2017 

  

£3,096,356 

 

£2,343,048 

 

£746,961 

 

£6,186,365 
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Appendix: Full Listing of the Linnean Society’s Meetings and Events 2018 

Categories:  LL Lunchtime Lecture 

  EM Evening Meeting 

  LinnL Linnean Learning 

Date Category Title Speaker 

10 Jan LL What Hope for Corals in this 

International Year of the Reef? 

Professor James 

Crabbe FLS 

18 Jan EM Reproduction in Sponges: Genes, 

Structures and Ecological Patterns 

Dr Ana Riesgo Gil 

 

7 Feb LL The Island as the Origin of all Species 

 

Elaine Charwat 

FLS 

15 Feb EM Ways of Thinking: From Crows to 

Children and Back Again 

Professor Nicky 

Clayton 

23 Feb Day Meeting Interdisciplinary Perspectives on 

Conservation Breeding and Livestock 

Genetics: In Memory of Andrew Sheppy 

FLS 

Organiser: Dr 

Philippe Wilson 

 

7 March LL Will Reefs of Calcifying Algae protect 

Marine Biodiversity against Climate 

Change? 

Dr Federica 

Ragazzola FLS 

 

7 March Regional 

Lecture 

Cardiff 

Forty-five years of living with 

guillemots on Skomer Island 

Professor Tim 

Birkhead 

8 March Special event Symbiotic Earth: How Lynn Margulis 

rocked the boat and started a scientific 

revolution 

Film screening 

with Q&A 

9 March Special event Gaia walk with Peter Horton Peter Horton 

15 

March  

EM A Bioenergetic Basis for the Three 

Domains of Life 

Professor Nick 

Lane FLS 

21 

March 

Day Meeting 230th Anniversary of the Linnean 

Society: A Celebration of our First 

Female Fellows 

Various 

28 

March 

LinnL BioMedia Meltdown Careers Workshop 

and Awards Celebration 

 

10 April LinnL One day painting course at the Linnean Rebecca Jewell and 

Sandy Ross-Sykes 
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11 April LL Forensic Entomology: How to Solve a 

Crime 

Dr Mark Benecke 

FLS 

19 April EM Debate Annual LERN debate: Synthetic Biology with London 

Evolutionary 

Research Network 

(LERN) 

26 April Day Meeting Remembering James Petiver (1665-1718) Organiser: 

Professor Richard 

Coulton 

2 May LL Fashioned From Nature: Learning from 

the Linnean Society of London 

Edwina Ehrman 

17 May  EM Six Continents: Five Years: One Big 

Plant Book 

Professors Mark 

Chase FRS FLS, 

Michael Fay FLS 

and Dr Maarten 

Christenhusz FLS 

24 May Special Event Anniversary Meeting (and AGM) 

Fellows, medal winners and their guests  

Professor Paul 

Brakefield 

6 June LL Animal Kingdom: A Natural History in 

100 objects 

Jack Ashby FLS 

21 June EM The Future of Tropical Agriculture Dr Edgar Turner 

5 July Special Event Conversazione 2018: Official Unveiling 

of ‘Herbie’ 

Glenn Benson FLS 

17 July LinnL Art Class Rebecca Jewell and 

Sandy Ross-Sykes 

27 July Special Event Courtyard Lates: Resources  

10-12 

Aug 

Field Trip To Isle of Cumbrae, Scotland With Field Studies 

Council 

16-20 

Aug 

LinnL Museum of Lost Species@ Green Man 

Festival, Wales 

 

5 Sep LL Unnatural Selection: Evolution at the 

Hand of Man 

Katrina van Grouw 

 

7 Sep Day Meeting How are we communicating the 

importance of Taxonomy and 

Systematics? 

Taxonomy & 

Systematics 

Specialist Group 
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11 Sep Nature 

Reader 

Biosphere 2: Lessons and Relevance to 

Global Ecological Challenges 

Sir Ghillean 

Prance PPLS and 

Dr Mark Nelson 

20 Sep EM Life after Death: The Ecology and 

Evolution of Burying Beetles 

Professor Rebecca 

Kilner 

22 Sep Special Event Open House 2018  

3 Oct LL Linnaeus, Sex and Classification Dr Isabelle 

Charmantier FLS 

18 Oct EM Science Policy Lecture: Lost Prophets, 

Deluded Wizards, Addicted Alchemists, 

and Us (in association with the 

Systematics Association) 

Mustafa Zaidi 

 

24 Oct LinnL The Big Draw Festival – Linnaues’ New 

Portrait 

 

30 Oct 

6 Nov 

13 Nov 

20 Nov 

27 Nov 

4 Dec 

LinnL Art Course: Drawing and Painting 

Nature Specimens (6 weeks, on 

Tuesdays) 

Rebecca Jewell and 

Sandy Ross-Sykes 

31 Oct LL Frightful Tales from the World of 

Venom 

Dr Ronald Jenner 

7 Nov Partner Event 

EM 

Sir Julian Huxley Lecture 2018: Marine 

Benthic Biodiversity of the Southern 

Ocean 

In association with 

the Systematics 

Association 

8 Nov  EM Darwin Lecture 2018: Targeting 

vulnerability; Improving childhood 

survival, growth and development in 

low-income settings 

Professor Judd 

Walson 

(in association with 

the Royal Society of 

Medicine) 

9 Nov  LinnL The Imposter Syndrome: Why successful 

people often feel like frauds 

Hugh Kearns 
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15 Nov EM Great Ape Minds and Human 

Evolution: Understanding our closest 

living relatives, the chimpanzees and the 

Bonobos 

Dr Zanna Clay 

 

3 Dec Founder’s 

Day EM 

A Brush with Flowers Philip Mould OBE 

FLS 

4 Dec Regional 

Lecture in 

Manchester  

Fieldwork in Fancy Dress? – a natural 

history of women in the field 

Dr Sandy Knapp 

PLS 

5 Dec  LL The Future of Coralline Algae Dr Leanne 

Melbourne 

7 Dec  LinnL The Rules of Engagement: How to Tailor 

your Science Effectively 

Joe Burton and Dr 

Leanne Melbourne 

13 Dec LinnL Day A Special Free Art Class at the Linnean 

Society for 18-30 year olds 

Rebecca Jewell and 

Sandy Ross-Sykes 

13 Dec Christmas 

Lecture 

Landmarks in the History of the 

Worshipful Company of Gardeners 

Tom Gough FLS 

 

Events that were externally organised and in which Linnean Learning have participated 

17 Feb LinnL Royal Institution Family Fun Day   

22 Feb  LinnL Twyford Secondary School Talk  

6-8 

March 

LinnL Westminster Super Scientists   

13-14 

March 

LinnL NHM Student Conference   

16 

March 

LinnL Street Art Workshop at St Georges 

Hanover  

 

19 

March 

LinnL Plants Workshop at Heathland Primary 

School 

 

21 

March 

LinnL Haringey Teachers Workshop  

23 

March 

LinnL Adaptation Workshop at Heathland 

Primary School  

 

27 

March 

LinnL Leeds Primary Science Conference   

24 April LinnL Brent Teachers Workshop   
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10 May LinnL Sheffield University Seminar   

1 June  LinnL Westminster Glorious Gardens   

20 June LinnL BES Summer School  

5 July LinnL Oxford Public Engagement with 

Research Conference  

 

22 July LinnL Brompton Cemetery BioBlitz  

13 Oct LinnL Cambridge Big Biology Day    

27 Oct  LinnL Royal Institution Family Fun Day      

31 Oct  LinnL Twyford High School Visit   

 

 

Birkbeck, University of London Series  

PARTNER EVENT :   Organised by the Ecology and Conservation Studies Society (LSL 

provides chairpersons) 

Spring 2018 – The World and Nature of Fungi 

• 9th February: Recording fungi in the 21st Century - the challenges and problems for both 

enthusiasts and professionals. Geoffrey Kibby, Associate Researcher Mycology, Royal 

Botanic Gardens, Kew; author of many guides to mushrooms and toadstools. 

• 16th February: Old trees and fungi and biological continuity. Ted Green, Founder 

President of Ancient Trees Forum, honorary lecturer Imperial College, University of 

London, Vice President of the International Tree Foundation and Conservation 

Consultant to the Crown Estate, Windsor. 

• 23rd February: Fungal symbiosis with plants. Martin Bidartondo, Reader in Molecular 

Ecology, Imperial College London & Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew. 

• 2nd March: Tackling emerging fungal threats to animal health, food security and ecosystem 

resilience. Matthew Fisher, Professor of Fungal Disease Epidemiology, Imperial 

College London. 

• 9th March: Opportunistic fungi and damage to heritage buildings and collections. Sophie 

Downes, Birkbeck Biology. 

• 16th March: Ash dieback. Maryam Rafiki, Researcher, Jodrell Laboratory, Kew. 

  



 

Page 66 of 66 
 

LINNEAN SOCIETY OF LONDON ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2018 

Winter 2018 – Transport and Nature  

• 12th October: A walk along the tracks: the story of the Parkland Walk - an abandoned railway 

line, now London’s longest Local Nature Reserve. David Bevan (Lecture theatre B33, 

Birkbeck main building Torrington Square). 

• 19th October: Do corridors along transport links work for wildlife. Dave Dawson (Lecture 

theatre B01, Clore Building, Torrington Square, diagonally opposite the Birkbeck main 

building). 

• 26th October: Lessons from the Green Transport Corridors Project. Nick White, Senior 

Advisor, Biodiversity 2020 Programme Team, Biodiversity Delivery, Natural England 

(Lecture theatre B04, 43 Gordon Square). 

• 2nd November: Amphibians, reptiles and British roads. The good, the bad and the 

future. Silviu Petrovan, Conservation Science Group, “Conservation Evidence”. Dept. 

Zoology, University of Cambridge. 

• 9th November: Trees and highways: street tree management in London. John Parker, 

Transport for London, Senior arboriculture & Landscape Specialist. 

• 16th November: Biodiversity at Gatwick Airport. Rachel Bicker, biodiversity consultant. 

 


